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APPENDIX 4E 
FULL YEAR FINANCIAL REPORT 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
 

RESULTS FOR ANNOUNCEMENT TO THE MARKET 

NAME OF ENTITY:  Nearmap Ltd 
ABN:  37 083 702 907 
REPORTING PERIOD: Year ended 30 June 2021 
PREVIOUS CORRESPONDING PERIOD: Year ended 30 June 2020 
RELEASE DATE:  18 August 2021 
 
 

    A$’000 

REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES Up 17% To 113,431 

LOSS FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER TAX  
ATTRIBUTABLE TO MEMBERS 

Down 49% To 18,820 

NET LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
MEMBERS Down 49% To 18,820 

 
 

 30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 

NET TANGIBLE ASSETS PER SHARE (CENTS)1 19.32 3.25 

1 Net assets (excluding intangible assets and net deferred tax liabilities) divided by number of shares outstanding at the end of the period. 

DIVIDENDS 

Nearmap Ltd has not proposed to pay any dividends for the year ended 30 June 2021. 

AUDIT 

The above information is extracted or derived from the consolidated financial statements and notes attached below which have 
been audited by KPMG.  

COMMENTARY AND OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW 

For a discussion on the items above refer to the operating and financial review section contained in the Directors’ Report. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

The Directors submit their report together with the consolidated financial statements of the Group, consisting of Nearmap Ltd (“Nearmap” 
or the “Company”) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the financial year ended 30 June 2021 and the auditor’s report 
thereon. 

DIRECTORS 

The Directors of the Company at any time during, or since the end of, the financial year are: 

NAME, QUALIFICATION, INDEPENDENCE STATUS, EXPERIENCE AND SPECIAL 
RESPONSIBILITIES 

OTHER DIRECTORSHIPS 

Mr Peter James, BA, FAICD 
Independent Non-executive Chairman  

Peter has extensive experience as Chair, Non-executive Director and Chief Executive Officer 
across a range of publicly listed and private companies, particularly in emerging technologies, e-
commerce and cyber security. 

Peter is a successful investor in digital media and technology businesses in Australia and the US 
and travels extensively in reviewing innovation and consumer trends globally. 

Peter is an experienced and successful business leader with significant strategic and operational 
expertise. He brings a strong record of corporate governance and stakeholder communication 
and is a Fellow of the Australian Computer Society. 

Peter holds a BA degree with majors in Business and Computer Science. 

Special responsibilities: 
Member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee 
Member of the People, Culture and Remuneration Committee 

Current ASX listed company 
directorships: 
• Nearmap Ltd (since 21 December 

2015) - Non-executive Chairman 
• Macquarie Telecom Group Ltd 

(ASX: MAQ) (since 2 April 2012) - 
Non-executive Chairman 

• Droneshield Limited (ASX: DRO) 
(since 1 April 2016) - Non-
executive Chairman 

• Keytone Dairy Corporation Limited 
(ASX: KTD) (since 25 September 
2018) - Non-executive Chairman 

• Ansarada Group Limited (ASX: 
AND) (since 4 December 2020) – 
Independent Chairman 

Former ASX listed company 
directorships in the past 3 years: 
• Dreamscape Networks Limited 

(ASX: DN8) (from 16 September 
2016 to 30 October 2019) - Non-
executive Chairman 

• UUV Aquabotix Ltd (ASX: UUV) 
(from 9 March 2017 to 20 October 
2020) - Non-executive Chairman 

Dr Rob Newman, B.Eng (1st Hons), Ph.D. 
Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director  

Rob has a unique track record as a successful technology entrepreneur in Australia and Silicon 
Valley. He has twice founded and built Australian technology businesses, both successfully 
entering overseas markets.  

Rob is a trained engineer and spent his career in marketing, business development and general 
management in high growth Information Technology businesses. In these leadership positions, 
Rob has a strong track record of taking companies from start-up to scale-up, broad experience 
in accessing capital markets and a practical understanding of the rapid evolution of strategy 
required in growth companies. 

Rob also spent 10 years as a venture capitalist co-founding Stone Ridge Ventures and was 
previously an investment Director for Foundation Capital. As a venture capitalist, Rob has 
extensive experience in identifying and helping growth companies with significant commercial 
potential, especially those addressing overseas markets. 

In the 1980s, Rob was the inventor and co-founder of QPSX Communications Pty Ltd. Rob 
provided the technical leadership and product strategy and was instrumental in establishing 
QPSX as a worldwide standard for Metropolitan Area Networks. 

Current ASX listed company 
directorships: 
• Nearmap Ltd (since 17 February 

2011). Appointed CEO & 
Managing Director in October 
2015 

Former ASX listed company 
directorships in the past 3 years: 
• Pointerra Limited (ASX: 3DP) (30 

June 2016 to 9 November 2018) - 
Non-executive Director 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.) 

DIRECTORS (CONT.) 

NAME, QUALIFICATION, INDEPENDENCE STATUS, EXPERIENCE AND SPECIAL 
RESPONSIBILITIES 

OTHER DIRECTORSHIPS 

Ms Tracey Horton AO, B.Econ.(Hons), MBA, FAICD, FGIA 
Independent Non-executive Director  

Tracey is an experienced Company Director with significant global leadership and strategy 
experience and is currently a Non-executive Director of GPT Group Limited (ASX.GPT), Acting 
President of the Australian Takeovers Panel, Deputy Chair of the National Board of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors, and Chair of Australian Industry Skills Committee. She was Chair 
of Navitas Limited (ASX: NVT) from 2016 to 2019 where she successfully led the Board to finalise 
a scheme of arrangement at favourable terms for shareholders.   

Tracey’s extensive prior board experience includes a wide range of listed, government and not-
for-profit boards, where she has played an active role in strategy development, succession 
planning, financial management, governance, and board performance as reflected in her 
membership and chairmanship of several remuneration and audit committees, and boards.  

Tracey has lived, worked, and studied in Australia, USA, Canada and the UK. She was previously 
a Winthrop Professor and Dean of the University of Western Australia's Business School, a senior 
executive role with line management responsibility. Prior to that she held executive and senior 
management roles with Bain & Company in North America, and in Australia with advisory firm 
Poynton and Partners serving clients across a wide range of industries and the Reserve Bank of 
Australia. 

Tracey has a Bachelor of Economics (Hons) from the University of WA and an MBA from Stanford 
University. She was appointed an Officer in the General Division of the Order of Australia in 2017 
for distinguished services to business and business education through a range of leadership roles. 

Special responsibilities: 
Chair of the People, Culture and Remuneration Committee 
Member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee 

Current ASX listed company 
directorships: 
• Nearmap Ltd (since 1 September 

2019) - Non-executive Director 
• The GPT Group Ltd (ASX: GPT) 

(since 1 May 2019) - Non-
executive Director 

Former ASX listed company 
directorships in the past 3 years: 
• Navitas Limited (ASX: NVT) (13 

June 2012- 16 October 2016) – 
Non-executive Director 

• Navitas Limited (ASX: NVT) (16 
October 2016 - 8 July 2019) - Non-
executive Chairman 

 

Ms Sue Klose, B.Sci.Econ., MBA, GAICD 
Independent Non-executive Director  

Sue is an experienced senior executive and board director, with a diverse background in 
Software as a Service (SaaS) businesses with a focus on digital strategy, corporate development, 
partnerships and business growth in Australia and the US. Sue was previously the Chief 
Marketing Officer of GraysOnline, where she was responsible for brand development, marketing 
operations and digital product strategy. In prior roles in consulting and global media companies 
including News Ltd, Sue has led strategic planning and development and is passionate about 
helping teams continually seek new opportunities for growth and innovation.   

As Director of Digital Corporate Development for News Ltd, Sue screened hundreds of potential 
investments, leading multiple acquisitions, establishing the CareerOne and CarsGuide joint 
ventures, and holding multiple board roles in high-growth digital and SaaS businesses. 

Sue has an MBA with honours in Finance, Strategy and Marketing from the Kellogg School of 
Management at Northwestern University, and a Bachelor of Science in Economics from the 
Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania. Sue is currently a Non-executive Director of 
Pureprofile (ASX: PPL) and Stride Mental Health Limited, one of Australia’s largest mental health 
care providers. 

Special responsibilities: 
Chair of the Audit and Risk Management Committee  
Member of the People, Culture and Remuneration Committee 

Current ASX listed company 
directorships: 
• Nearmap Ltd (since 14 August 

2017) - Non-executive Director 
• Pureprofile Ltd (ASX: PPL) (since 17 

July 2018) - Non-executive 
Director 

• Envirosuite (ASX: EVS) (since 1 
November 2020) – Non-executive 
Director 

Former ASX listed company 
directorships in the past 3 years: 
• None 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.) 

DIRECTORS (CONT.) 

NAME, QUALIFICATION, INDEPENDENCE STATUS, EXPERIENCE AND SPECIAL 
RESPONSIBILITIES 

OTHER DIRECTORSHIPS 

Mr Ross Norgard, FCA 
Non-executive Director  

In 1987, Ross became the founding Chairman of Nearmap Ltd. He held this role until 18 March 
2016, at which point he moved into a Non-executive role. 

Ross is a former managing partner of Arthur Andersen and KMG Hungerfords and its successor 
firms in Perth, Western Australia. For over 30 years he has worked extensively in the fields of 
raising venture capital and the financial reorganisation of businesses.  

He has held numerous positions on industry committees including former Chairman of the 
Western Australian Professional Standards Committee of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants, a former member of the National Disciplinary Committee of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants, former Chairman of the Friends of the Duke of Edinburgh's Award 
Scheme and a former member of the University of WA's Graduate School of Management (MBA 
Program). Ross is also Western Australia’s Honorary Consul-General to Finland. 

Special responsibilities: 
Member of the People, Culture and Remuneration Committee 
Member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee 

Current ASX listed company 
directorships: 
• Nearmap Ltd (since 1987) - Non-

executive Director 
• Brockman Mining Ltd (ASX: BCK) 

(since 22 August 2012) - Non-
executive Director 

Former ASX listed company 
directorships in the past 3 years: 
• None 

 

Mr Cliff Rosenberg, B.Bus.Sci., M.Sc. Management 
Independent Non-executive Director  

Cliff has more than 20 years’ experience leading change and innovation in technology and media 
companies. As the former Managing Director of LinkedIn for Australia, NZ and South-East Asia, 
Cliff started the Australian office in 2009 and oversaw the expansion of LinkedIn in Australia from 
1 million members in 2009 to more than 8 million members in 2017. Previously, he was 
Managing Director at Yahoo! Australia and New Zealand, and prior to that role he was the 
founder and Managing Director of iTouch Australia NZ where he grew the Australian office to 
one of the largest mobile content and application providers in Australia. Previously Cliff was head 
of corporate strategy for Vodafone Australasia and also served as an international management 
consultant with Gemini Consulting and Bain Consulting. 

Cliff has more than ten years' experience on the boards of publicly listed companies. His current 
directorships include Nearmap (ASX: NEA), A2B Australia Limited (ASX: A2B), TechnologyOne 
(ASX: TNE) and Bidcorp (JSE: BID). Cliff was also a Non-executive Director with Dimmi (online 
reservations company bought by Tripadvisor.com in May 2015) and Afterpay Touch Group (ASX: 
APT). He holds a Bachelor of Business Science (Hons) from the University of Cape Town and a 
Masters of Science (Hons) from the Ben Gurion University of the Negev. 

Special responsibilities: 
Member of the People, Culture and Remuneration Committee 
Member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee 

Current ASX listed company 
directorships: 
• Nearmap Ltd (since 3 July 2012) - 

Non-executive Director 
• A2B Australia Ltd (ASX:CAB) (since 

25 August 2017) - Non-executive 
Director 

• TechnologyOne Pty Ltd (ASX: TNE) 
(since 27 February 2019) - Non-
executive Director 

Former ASX listed company 
directorships in the last 3 years: 
• Pureprofile Ltd (ASX: PPL) (12 June 

2015 to 28 February 2019) - Non-
executive Director 

• IXUP Ltd (ASX: IXU) (29 September 
2017 to 2 July 2019) - Non-
executive Director 

• Afterpay Touch Group Ltd (ASX: 
APT) (23 March 2016 to 24 May 
2020) - Non-executive Director 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.) 

COMPANY SECRETARY  

Ms Shannon Coates LLB was appointed to the position of company secretary in June 2013. Ms Coates is a qualified lawyer, Chartered 
Secretary and graduate of the AICD Company Directors course, with over 20 years’ experience in corporate law and compliance. She is 
currently company secretary to a number of publicly listed and unlisted companies and has provided company secretarial and corporate 
advisory services to boards and various committees across a variety of industries, including financial services, resources, manufacturing and 
technology.  

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

The number of meetings of Directors (including meetings of committees of Directors) held during the financial year and the number of 
meetings attended by each Director are as follows: 

 FULL BOARD MEETINGS 
 

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 
MEETINGS 

 PEOPLE, CULTURE AND 
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

MEETINGS 

 ELIGIBLE TO 
ATTEND 

ATTENDED  ELIGIBLE TO 
ATTEND 

ATTENDED  ELIGIBLE TO 
ATTEND 

ATTENDED 

P James 13 13  4 4  5 5 
R Newman 13 13  - 41  - 51 
T Horton 13 13  4 4  5 5 
S Klose 13 13  4 4  5 5 
R Norgard 13 13  4 4  5 5 
C Rosenberg 13 13  4 4  5 5 

 
1 Dr Newman attended these committee meetings as an invitee. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

Nearmap Ltd provides cloud-based geospatial information services and location intelligence content. The Company conducts aerial surveys 
capturing wide-scale urban areas in Australia, New Zealand and North America, providing location intelligence insights to a diverse range of 
businesses and government organisations via subscription through its 100% owned subsidiaries, Nearmap Australia Pty Ltd and Nearmap 
US Inc. There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities of the Group during the year. 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 

In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group that occurred during the financial year 
under review. 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 

Overview of the Group 
Founded in Australia in 2007, Nearmap is a location intelligence company capturing data about the real world and providing insights to a 
diverse range of businesses. By subscribing to Nearmap, customers can remotely plan and inspect, monitor and validate, assess risk, 
communicate and visualise, estimate and quote, and generate leads, enabling businesses to increase their productivity by reducing the need 
for costly, time-consuming site visits. 

Nearmap has a diverse subscription base of more than 11,000 customers across a number of industry verticals. These verticals include 
Architecture, Construction, Engineering (23% of the Group’s customer portfolio), Insurance (20% of the Group’s customer portfolio), Solar 
(9% of the Group’s customer portfolio), Utilities (8% of the Group’s customer portfolio), Commercial (17% of the Group’s customer portfolio), 
Roofing (4% of the Group’s customer portfolio), government organisations (18% of the Group’s customer portfolio), and what the group 
refers to as “proof of concept”, being ACV driven by a one-year deal with an enterprise customer that is of a project nature (1% of the Group’s 
portfolio) . Given this diversity, the Group does not have concentration risk on specific industry segments or individual customers. 

Using its own patented camera systems and processing software, the Group captures wide-scale urban areas in Australia (90% population 
coverage), New Zealand (73% population coverage), the United States (72% population coverage) and Canada (64% population coverage) 
multiple times each year. The updated content is delivered to customers as Orthogonal (2D) imagery, Oblique cardinal direction imagery, 
and 3D models. The Group launched its Nearmap AI product at the end of FY20, a revolutionary new product that enables customers to 
more accurately and efficiently measure change and quantify attributes through a series of datasets constructed from machine learning 
models deployed across the Group’s high-definition aerial images. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.) 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONT.) 

The Group’s content includes a wide range of analytics and tools, including artificial intelligence content, and is instantly available in the cloud 
via web app or API integration.  

The pivotal features underpinning the success of the Nearmap business model are: 

• the frequency with which this data is captured and updated; 
• the clarity (resolution) of the imagery provided;  
• the large geographic scale of the coverage area; and 
• the availability of previous surveys on the same platform, allowing users to track changes at locations over time. 

The Group is a participant in the large, fragmented and growing global location intelligence market, holding a global market share of less 
than 1%. Nearmap’s strategy is to effectively monetise its content by providing convenient access to its products via desktop and mobile 
platforms, through a subscription model and value-add products supported by e-commerce facilities. The Group generates revenues in two 
main geographic regions, Australia and New Zealand (together “ANZ”), and the United States and Canada (together “NA”). See segment 
reporting in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for more details of the financial performance of the Group’s operating segments. 

Review of operations 
Financial performance 
For the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group reported revenue of $113.4m (30 June 2020: $96.7m), and a net loss after tax of $18.8m (30 
June 2020: $36.7m). 

Group ACV Portfolio (A$’000) FY21 FY20  YoY $ YoY % 
Opening ACV 106,437 90,240  16,197 18% 
New business 16,144 16,028  116 1% 
Net upsell 16,449 8,288  8,161 98% 
Churn (7,386) (8,889)  1,503 17% 
Net incremental ACV 25,207 15,427  9,780 63% 
Foreign exchange (3,434) 770  (4,204) (546%) 
Closing ACV 128,210 106,437  21,773 20% 
      
Total revenue 113,431 96,714  16,717 17% 
Total net expenses (ex. D&A, interest, tax) (89,122) (87,643)  (1,479) (2%) 
EBITDA 24,309 9,071  15,238 168% 
Depreciation and amortisation (45,112) (46,698)  1,586 3% 
EBIT (20,803) (37,627)  16,824 45% 
Net finance (cost)/income (1,652) 524  (2,176) (415%) 
Tax benefit 3,635 386  3,249 842% 
NPAT (18,820) (36,717)  17,897 49% 
Earnings per share (3.88) (8.14)  4.26 52% 
Operating cash flow 31,044 12,088  18,956 157% 
 

Total revenue for the year ended 30 June 2021 (FY21) increased 17% to $113.4m compared to total revenue for the year ended 30 June 
2020 (FY20) of $96.7m. ANZ revenue increased 9% to $65.9m compared to prior year total revenue of $60.2m, while NA revenue increased 
30% to $47.5m compared to prior year total revenue of $36.5m.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.) 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONT.) 

Review of operations (cont.) 
Financial performance (cont.) 
The increase in revenue is correlated to the 20% growth in the Annual Contract Value (“ACV”) portfolio over the same period. The drivers 
behind ACV growth for the year ended 30 June 2021 are: 
• New business: New customers contributed $16.1m of incremental ACV in FY21. This increase is a marginal improvement on prior year 

and shows the continued penetration of the total addressable market to new user groups across key industry segments in both ANZ 
and NA. The NA and ANZ segments respectively represented $10.4m and $5.7m of the Group’s new business for the year ended 30 
June 2021.  

• Net upsell: Net upsell is the aggregate of customer upgrades offset by downgrades. Net upsell in FY21 totalled $16.4m, up $8.2m or 
98% on FY20. Net upsell highlights the increasing value that existing customers derive from Nearmap, and the success of cross-selling 
into new products and features. The NA and ANZ segments respectively reported net upsell of $12.6m and $3.8m during the year ended 
30 June 2021. 

• Retention: As a subscription business selling annual contracts, a key focus for sales and marketing activities is the retention of existing 
customers. The Group’s retention rate increased from 90.1% in FY20 to 93.1% in FY21, mainly driven by the significant improvement of 
retention in NA as the Group continues to invest in customer retention activities. This was partially offset by a slight decrease to the 
retention rate in ANZ as a result of challenges in the Enterprise segment. Total Group churn of $7.4m was split $2.5m and $4.9m 
between NA and ANZ respectively. 

Total revenue is recognised evenly over the subscription period, while ACV represents the annualised value of all active subscription contracts 
in effect at a particular date. The difference between ACV growth and total revenue growth is a result of the timing of new business, net 
upsell and retention changes across the financial year and over the previous 12 months.  

Group EBITDA for the year ended 30 June 2021 increased 168% to $24.3m compared to prior year Group EBITDA of $9.1m. In ANZ, EBITDA 
is up 48% to $24.2m compared to $16.4m in FY20 primarily as a result of the increase in revenue. In NA, EBITDA of $0.1m compared 
favourably to prior year EBITDA of ($7.3m). The NA EBITDA has increased as a result of the growth in revenue, offset by an increase in 
corporate and technology costs. 

Group NPAT for the year ended 30 June 2021 is up 49% to ($18.8m) compared to prior year of ($36.7m). The increase in NPAT is driven by 
the increase in EBITDA, as well as by a decrease of $1.6m in depreciation and amortisation expense mainly resulting from the reduced spend 
on capture costs in 2H20 and FY21. Net finance costs increased $2.2m as a result of realised losses on hedging instruments, while the group’s 
tax benefit increased 842% to $3.6m driven by deferred tax assets recognised on the unearned revenue balance in the US and deferred tax 
assets recognised on provisions and other accruals in ANZ.  

Financial position 
The Group’s balance sheet remains strong with no debt and a closing cash balance at 30 June 2021 of $123.4m (30 June 2020: $36.1m). The 
increase since 30 June 2020 is mainly driven by the $92.7m net proceeds received from the capital raise in September/October 2020. 
Management intends to gradually invest these proceeds into the business in support of its longer-term strategic growth aspirations. In 
accordance with the investor presentation issued on 10 September 2020, these funds will be invested into Sales and Marketing (mainly in 
NA) and expanding product solutions for specific industry verticals, accelerating the roll-out of HyperCamera3 to enable expanded capture, 
and enhancing operational systems to support business growth. As at 30 June 2021, less than $5m of these proceeds had been reinvested 
into the business. Cash receipts from customers for the year were $123.8m compared to $100.2m for the previous year, an increase of 
$23.6m or 24%. 

The Group’s net working capital, excluding cash and cash equivalents and deferred revenue, increased 119% to $11.6m from $5.3m between 
30 June 2020 and 30 June 2021. The main movements in net working capital are current receivables which increased by $7.1m, consistent 
with strong IACV recorded in Q4 FY21, offset by an increase of $5.3m to the current employee benefits liability as a result of an increase to 
the commissions accrual and increased short-term incentive provisions.  

The Group’s net assets as at 30 June 2021 increased 151% to $142.7m, from $56.7m at 30 June 2020. The increase is largely due to the 
capital raise in September/October 2020 ($92.7m), as well as the reduction of non-current lease liabilities following rental payments made 
throughout FY21. The Group has disclosed in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements that it was made aware of a patent 
infringement claim filed by Eagle View Technologies, Inc. and Pictometry International Corp. against the Group on 5 May 2021. The Group 
intends to vigorously defend against the claim and considers it has no present obligation with regards to these claims. As a result, the Group 
did not recognise any provision in its consolidated statement of financial position. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.) 

DIVIDENDS 

No dividends have been paid or proposed in respect of the current year (30 June 2020: nil). 

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE REPORTING DATE 

On 5 May 2021 Eagle View Technologies, Inc. and Pictometry International Corp (collectively “EV”) filed a complaint against Nearmap US, 
Inc. in the United States District Court (District of Utah, Northern Division) alleging eight patent infringements. On 8 July 2021, Nearmap US, 
Inc. filed a Motion to Dismiss for two of these infringement claims with EV filing a subsequent response on 5 August 2021. The Group believes 
EV’s allegations are fundamentally without merit and is well prepared to vigorously defend against the claims.  

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or could significantly affect the 
operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years. 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS 

The Group will continue to implement the business strategies identified to ensure that it continues on its growth trajectory in the foreseeable 
future, subject to a stable macro-economic environment. The Group will continue to seek new opportunities to build scale and to broaden 
its customer base, sales and marketing capability, product offering and technological advantage. 

In reliance on s299A(3) of the Corporations Act 2001, we have not disclosed further information on business strategies and prospects, 
because disclosure of that information is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION 

The current activities of the Group are not subject to any significant environmental regulation. However, the Board believes that the Group 
has adequate systems in place to manage its environmental obligations and is not aware of any breach of those environmental requirements 
during the period covered by this report as they apply to the Group. 

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS  

The relevant interest of each Director in the shares, debentures, interests in registered schemes and rights and options over such instruments 
issued by the companies within the Group and other related bodies corporate, as notified by the Directors to the ASX in accordance with 
S205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report are as follows: 

 

 
ORDINARY 

SHARES 
 OPTIONS OVER 

ORDINARY SHARES 
P James  2,070,468  - 
R Newman 10,546,951  2,055,481 
T Horton 24,347  - 
S Klose 113,043  - 
R Norgard 24,573,918  - 
C Rosenberg 3,214,043  - 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.) 

UNISSUED ORDINARY SHARES 

As at 30 June 2021 there were 14,602,182 unissued ordinary shares under the various share-based payment plans. Refer to note 5 to the 
consolidated financial statements for further details of the Group’s share-based payment plans.  

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS AND AUDITOR 

Indemnification of officers 
The Company has agreed to indemnify the current Directors and certain Senior Executives of the Company and its controlled entities against 
all liabilities to another person (other than the Company or a related body corporate) that may arise from their position as Directors or Senior 
Executives of the Company and its controlled entities, except where the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. The 
agreement stipulates that the Company will meet the full amount of any such liabilities, including legal fees.  

Since the end of the previous financial year, the Group has paid insurance premiums in respect of Directors’ and officers’ liability and legal 
expenses insurance contracts. The insurance premiums relate to: 

• legal costs and expenses incurred by the relevant officers in defending proceedings, whether civil or criminal and whatever their 
outcome; and 

• other liabilities that may arise from their position, with the exception of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty or improper use of 
information or position to gain a personal advantage or to cause detriment to the Company.  

The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 

Indemnification of auditor 
The company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the Company or any 
related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 

During the financial year, the Company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the Company or any related 
entity. 

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company, 
or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all 
or part of those proceedings. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.) 

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

Non-audit services 
During the year, KPMG, the Group’s auditor, has performed certain other services in addition to the audit and review of the consolidated 
financial statements.  

Non-audit services (cont.) 
The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor of the Group, KPMG, and in accordance with 
written advice provided by resolution of the Audit and Risk Committee, is satisfied that the provision of those non-audit services during the 
year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for 
the following reasons: 

• all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Group and have been reviewed by the 
Audit and Risk Committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and 

• the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or 
decision-making capacity for the Group, acting as an advocate for the Group or jointly sharing risks and rewards. 

Details of the amounts paid to KPMG and its network firms for audit and non-audit services provided during the year are outlined in note 21 
to the consolidated financial statements.  

Lead auditor’s independence declaration 
The lead auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307c of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 33 and forms 
part of the Directors’ report for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.  

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS 

The Group is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191 and in accordance 
with that instrument, amounts in the consolidated financial report and Directors’ Report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand 
dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

REMUNERATION REPORT 

The remuneration report on pages 15 to 32 forms part of this Director’s Report. 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

 

 
 
Rob Newman  
Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director 
17 August 2021 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIR OF THE PEOPLE, CULTURE AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

Dear Shareholder, 
 
On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present the Nearmap Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2021, which contains detailed 
information regarding the remuneration of Group’s Key Management Personnel (KMP). The People, Remuneration and Culture Committee 
(PRC) is focused on applying a remuneration approach that supports the Group’s strategy across the various geographies of our operations 
and enables us to attract, retain and motivate executives to deliver outstanding business outcomes for all of our stakeholders. The Nearmap 
team delivered strong financial results during the 2020-21 financial year despite an uncertain economic environment due to the COVID-19 
pandemic; the Committee continued to focus on achieving remuneration outcomes that reflect the performance of Nearmap, reward and 
retain talent, and are aligned to the interests of our shareholders. 

Market Context for Remuneration Considerations 
Almost two years on, the COVID-19 pandemic continues to have widespread impacts on our lives and the economy. The Nearmap Board is 
very proud of the resilience and efforts of the Nearmap team to work effectively together, while operating remotely for much of the period, 
to deliver very strong business performance and at the same time maintaining a strong focus on safety, health, and a positive working 
culture. 

As disclosed in the previous remuneration report, in response to the uncertainty created by the impact of COVID-19 and an associated need 
to conserve cash, the Board members and KMPs agreed to a reduction of their fixed remuneration for a six-month period from 1 May 2020 
to 31 October 2020: 20% reduction for KMP and 25% reduction for Non-executive Directors and the Chief Executive Officer & Managing 
Director. The Board determined that STI payments for KMP in 2020 would be capped at 50% of target (although performance versus financial 
hurdles indicated a close to 90% payout) and the payment of the STI was delayed until March 2021. The Board values and appreciates the 
loyalty and commitment to Nearmap demonstrated by executives and staff willing to make personal sacrifices to ensure that the Company 
was in the best position to retain as many jobs as possible in the light of economic uncertainty. 

As the pandemic has unfolded, the impact on different sectors has varied tremendously, depending on business models and sensitivity to 
the various policy measures put in place to manage the health and economic effects. The Company’s business of delivering content to 
customers - which enables them to reduce physical visits to sites - has experienced continued strong demand and the team has been able 
to overcome the challenges posed by remote working to deliver on strategic and financial goals. 

There is a global shortage of critical skills in the technology sector, exacerbated by border closures. Many technology companies are 
experiencing unprecedented demand for their products and services given the rapid uptake of digital technology for many existing and new 
purposes. As they seek to expand their workforces to meet their customers’ needs, they no longer have access to a global marketplace for 
technology talent. This supply constraint has put significant pressure on remuneration in the technology sector and has highlighted the 
importance of retaining valued employees. Nearmap is not immune to these pressures, particularly given the constraints on remuneration 
incurred during 2020-21, and we have experienced undesired turnover including at the KMP level.  

People and Remuneration Committee Activities and Decisions in 20-21 
As no annual review of employee base pay was conducted in in 2019-20, the Committee requested a comprehensive review of the job 
grading framework and annual salary benchmarking to market. As a result of this review an increase of 3%, effective 1 July 2021 was 
approved with certain employees receiving a larger adjustment to ensure that their base pay is competitive with market based on their role 
and experience. 

A review of our remuneration strategy was commenced with the assistance of PwC and overall it was determined that the remuneration 
strategy and framework is fit for purpose, with the opportunity to evolve some elements over time. In the short term the PRC have also 
requested further review of the LTI structure and hurdles to ensure that it strikes an appropriate balance between retaining and motivating 
our people and aligning reward outcomes to the shareholder experience. 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIR OF THE PEOPLE, CULTURE AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

People and Remuneration Committee Activities and Decisions in 20-21 (cont.) 
The STI payout to KMPs for the year ended 30 June 2021 is based on Group Performance (60%) and Individual Performance (40%). The 
Group performance in IACV was delivered to 167% of management target which, based on tiered earnings schedule, means that KMPs are 
entitled to a payout of 133.5% of their group performance target. The payout for individual performance was assessed relative to individual 
KPIs. The overall STI payout for KMPs was 110%, reflecting outperformance of financial targets and strong performance versus individual 
KPIs.   

The November 2017 LTI grants were awarded at fully vested levels in November 2020. 

In the context of outstanding business results in FY21, the constrained market for technology talent and associated remuneration pressures 
and the criticality of key executives in pursuing the Company’s strategy, the Board will consider specific purpose, targeted retention 
arrangements for 2021-22. 

The Board periodically reviews the level of fees paid to Non-executive Directors, including seeking external advice. The last external review 
was undertaken during the year ended 30 June 2019. No changes to fees will be made in FY22. We will review the fees in the next financial 
year. 

Summary  
The PRC believes the remuneration outcomes for FY21 reflect an appropriate balance between recognising performance, retaining and 
motivating our people and aligning reward outcomes to the shareholder experience. We welcome feedback from investors and stakeholders 
regarding this Remuneration Report.  

 

 
Tracey Horton AO 
Chair 
People, Culture and Remuneration Committee 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.)

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED  

INTRODUCTION 
This remuneration report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for Directors and key management personnel of Nearmap Ltd 
(the Company) and the consolidated entity (the Group) for the year ended 30 June 2021. 

Contents: 

A. Key Management Personnel (KMP) disclosed in this report 
B. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 
C. Details of remuneration 
D. Employment contracts 
E. Share based compensation 
F. Transactions with Key Management Personnel 
G. Additional information 
H. Unissued ordinary shares 

The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001 and 
forms part of the Directors’ Report. 

A. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (KMP) DISCLOSED IN THIS REPORT 
KMP are the directors and employees who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the activities of the 
Group, directly or indirectly, during the financial year. On that basis, the following roles and individuals are addressed in this report: 

Directors 
The following persons were Directors of the Company during the current and previous financial year and up to the date of this report, unless 
otherwise stated: 

P James Non-executive Chairman 
R Newman Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director 
T Horton Non-executive Director 
S Klose Non-executive Director 
R Norgard Non-executive Director 
C Rosenberg Non-executive Director 
 

Senior executives classified as KMP 
The following persons were Senior executives classified as KMP of the Group during the current and previous financial year and up to the 
date of this report, unless otherwise stated: 

A Watt Chief Financial Officer 
T Celinski Chief Technology Officer 
H Sanchez Chief Marketing Officer  
S Shugg Chief People Officer (appointed 21 October 2019) 
J Adams Chief Revenue Officer (appointed 20 February 2020, resigned 30 June 2021) 
 

B. PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE NATURE AND AMOUNT OF REMUNERATION 
Remuneration philosophy 
The performance of the Group depends upon the quality of its people. To prosper, the Group must attract, motivate and retain highly skilled 
Executives and employees in the geographies the Group operates in. To this end, the Group applies the following principles in its 
remuneration framework; 

• Provide market competitive rewards in the relevant geographies to attract and retain talent; 
• Maintain pay equity and the commitment to diversity and inclusion; 
• Link rewards to shareholder value; and 
• Establish appropriate, demanding performance hurdles in relation to variable remuneration. 

 
During the year ended 30 June 2021, a comprehensive review of the Company’s remuneration strategy and framework commenced to 
ensure alignment to its 2025 strategy. This process aims to ensure the current remuneration strategy supports the achievement of the 
Group’s business strategy, and to align shareholder, Board and management expectations with broader market conditions. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.)

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONT.) 

B. PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE NATURE AND AMOUNT OF REMUNERATION (CONT.) 
As part of this review, PwC was engaged to conduct market research on incentive practices for KMPs and employees. PwC’s report was 
provided to the Board. The report did not include provision of remuneration recommendations, as defined in the Corporations Act. 

People, Culture and Remuneration Committee  
The People, Culture and Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for determining and reviewing 
compensation arrangements for the Directors and the Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director and ensuring that the Board continues 
to operate within the established guidelines, including when necessary, selecting candidates for the position of Director. The Committee 
makes recommendations to the Board for the fixed and variable remuneration for the Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director, and 
reviews and recommends the overall Group variable remuneration framework to the Board. The Committee also reviews and endorses the 
Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director’s recommendations for KMP remuneration packages. 

The People, Culture and Remuneration Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of Directors 
and the Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director on a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the 
overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high-quality Board and executive team. 

Securities trading policy 
A securities trading policy (“Trading Policy”) has been adopted by the Board to provide guidance to Directors, employees of the Group, and 
other parties who may have access to price sensitive information, who may be contemplating dealing in the Company’s securities or the 
securities of entities with whom the Group may have dealings.  

The Trading Policy is designed to ensure that any trading in the Company’s securities is in accordance with the law. Any non-compliance with 
the Trading Policy will be regarded as an act of serious misconduct. The Trading Policy is available on the Nearmap website at 
www.nearmap.com/au/en/investors/governance.  

Remuneration structure 
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of Non-executive Director and KMP remuneration is separate and 
distinct. 

(i) Non-executive Director remuneration 
Objective: The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level which provides the Company with the ability to attract and retain 
Directors of the highest calibre, while incurring a cost which is acceptable to shareholders. 

Structure: Each Non-executive Director receives a fee for being a Director of the Company. The Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules specify 
that the aggregate remuneration of Non-executive Directors shall be determined from time to time by a general meeting. An amount not 
exceeding the amount determined is then divided between the Non-executive Directors as agreed. The latest determination was at the 
Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on 15 November 2018 when shareholders approved an aggregate remuneration of $850,000 per year.  

The Board periodically reviews the level of fees paid to Non-executive Directors, including seeking external advice. The last external review 
was undertaken during the year ended 30 June 2019 by Godfrey Remuneration to benchmark Non-executive Director remuneration and to 
consider the design and implementation of an equity plan. Following this review, it was agreed that an equity plan would not be put in place 
for Non-executive Directors and that the existing remuneration was adequate. A grant of Non-executive Director share options was last 
made during the year ended 30 June 2016.  

The current base Director fees per annum, including statutory superannuation, are:
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.)

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONT.) 

B. PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE NATURE AND AMOUNT OF REMUNERATION (CONT.) 
Remuneration structure (cont.) 
(ii) Non-executive Director remuneration (cont.) 

 30 June 2021  
Chairman $175,000  
Non-executive Director $110,000  
Committee Chair $10,000  

 
As disclosed in the remuneration report for the financial year ended 30 June 2020, all Non-executive Director fees were reduced by 25% for 
a period of 6 months, beginning 1 May 2020 and ending 31 October 2020.  

(iii) Key management personnel and Executive Director remuneration 
Objective: The Group aims to reward executives with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate with their position and responsibilities 
within the Group in order to: 
• Reward executives and individual performance against key performance indicators; 
• Align the interests of executives with those of shareholders; 
• Link reward with the strategic goals and performance of the Group; and 
• Ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards. 

Structure: Remuneration typically consists of the following key elements: 
1) Fixed Remuneration 
2) Variable Remuneration, comprising: 

• Short-Term Incentive (STI), and 
• Long-Term Incentive (LTI)  

1) Fixed Remuneration 
Objective: The level of fixed remuneration is set to provide a base level of remuneration which is both appropriate to the position and 
competitive in the market. 

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the People, Culture and Remuneration Committee. The process consists of a review of individual 
performance, comparative internal and market benchmark remuneration and, where appropriate, external advice on policies and practices.  

Fixed remuneration for KMPs was reduced by 20% for a six-month period beginning 1 May 2020 and ending 31 October 2020 in response 
to the uncertainty created by the impact of COVID-19. Continuing revenue growth during the COVID-19 affected period meant that the 
Group was ineligible for any Australian or US government-funded salary incentives schemes e.g. Jobkeeper allowance. See note 5 of the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021 for further details of the impact of COVID-19 on non-KMP remuneration 
structures.  On 1 November 2020, fixed remuneration for KMPs reverted to 100% of entitlement. During the year ended 30 June 2021, no 
further adjustments were made to the fixed remuneration of KMPs with the exception of the Chief Revenue Officer whose fixed 
remuneration was adjusted to more closely align the remuneration structure to that of other KMPs of the Group. 

Structure: Senior executives may receive their fixed (primary) remuneration in a variety of forms including cash and fringe benefits such as 
motor vehicles and expense payment plans. All senior executives opted to receive their fixed remuneration in cash for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2021. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.)

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONT.) 

B. PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE NATURE AND AMOUNT OF REMUNERATION (CONT.) 
Remuneration structure (cont.) 
(ii) Key management personnel and Executive Director remuneration (cont.) 
2) Variable Remuneration  
Short Term Incentive (STI) 
Objective: The objective of the STI program is to motivate and reward employees for achieving and exceeding the Group’s operational 
targets. The total potential STI where available is set at a level to provide sufficient incentive to employees to achieve and exceed the 
operational targets at a cost to the Group that is reasonable in the circumstances. 

Structure: Actual STI payments granted to each employee depend on the extent to which specific operating targets are met. The operational 
targets consist of a number of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) covering individual and Group performance measures aligned to the short-
term success of the business. The performance measures are set as follows: 

• Group performance: 60% (50% for KMPs responsible for sales) of the STI comprises of a Group Incremental Annualised Contract Value 
(IACV) target. The payout is scaled to the internal IACV target (FY21 IACV target: $17.0m). Subject to meeting the gateway, 
outperformance results in higher than target payments (maximum payout of 150% of the 60%), while underperformance results in 
below target payments (target achievement of 75% or less results in nil payment). 

• Individual performance: 40% (nil for KMPs responsible for sales) of the STI comprises personal performance targets, typically including 
employee engagement, leadership/team contribution and functional specific deliverables. 

• Sales target: 50% of the STI for KMPs responsible for sales comprise an uncapped gross IACV target.  

STI payments are made, subject to Board discretion, if the relevant targets are achieved and subject to the KMP not serving notice at the 
time of the Board’s approval. If the targets are not achieved, then any STI payment is discretionary and will only be made if the Board deem 
that the KMP has demonstrated exceptional performance in meeting other objectives.  

The amount of annual STI payments available for employees across the Group is subject to the approval of the Board, on the 
recommendation of the People, Culture and Remuneration Committee. Payments made are usually delivered as a cash bonus paid after the 
release of the audited financial statements. 

Long Term Incentive (LTI) 

Objective: The objective of the LTI plan is to reward employees in a manner which aligns this element of remuneration with the creation of 
shareholder wealth.  

Structure: There are two components to the LTI granted to KMPs: a share option grant upon hiring and an annual share option grant 
thereafter. 

1) New hire award: options are granted to KMPs upon becoming an executive of the Group. One-off LTI grants to new executives are 
delivered in the form of options with the amount for the Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director recommended by the People, 
Culture and Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board, and for other executive KMPs by the Chief Executive Officer & 
Managing Director with endorsement by the People, Culture and Remuneration Committee. Consideration is given to: 

• The seniority of the relevant Eligible Person and the position the Eligible Person occupies within the Group; 
• The potential contribution of the Eligible Person to the growth of the Group; and 
• Any other matters which the Board considers relevant. 

One-off LTI grants to new executives granted subsequent to 1 July 2017 are granted based on the closing share price on the grant 
date and vest in equal tranches over 3 years. Vesting is subject to the executive continuing in employment or service. See Section 
E of the remuneration report for further details.  F
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.)

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONT.) 

B. PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE NATURE AND AMOUNT OF REMUNERATION (CONT.) 
Remuneration structure (cont.) 
(ii) Key management personnel and Executive Director remuneration (cont.) 
2) Variable Remuneration (cont.) 
Long Term Incentive (LTI) (cont.) 

2) Annual award: Executives are entitled to an annual award, set at 40% of total remuneration, and subject to a total shareholder 
return (TSR) growth performance vesting condition and to the executive continuing in employment or service until the vesting 
date. TSR is a measure of the increase in the price of a share (assuming dividends are reinvested). The number of options that will 
vest (and become exercisable) at the vesting date will be determined by reference to the achievement of a percentage of the 
Group's compound annual growth rate (CAGR) in TSR over the period commencing on the grant date and ending on the vesting 
date, as follows:  

CAGR % achieved  % of Options which will vest 
<15%  - 
15%  50% 
16%  60% 
17%  70% 
18%  80% 
19%  90% 
20%  100% 

 
Options are issued with a strike price based on the five-day volume weighted average price of the Company's shares as traded on 
the ASX over the five trading days prior to the date of the annual general meeting. Options vest 36 months from the date of grant 
and expire 48 months after the date of grant. 

An employee loan scheme arrangement exists should an employee elect to apply for a loan on exercise of premium-priced options 
granted prior to 30 June 2017, which may be granted at the discretion of the Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director. Refer to 
section E for limited recourse loans.  

(iii)  Group Performance 
The overall level of executive reward takes into account the technology commercialisation nature of the business and realistic timeframes 
for generating profits. In particular, executive rewards recognise the commercialisation of the Nearmap business and future shareholder 
wealth contained therein and the progress that has been made in unlocking value to date. 

In considering the Group’s performance and benefits for shareholder wealth, the People, Culture and Remuneration Committee has given 
regard to the following indices over the last 5 financial years. 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

ACV 128,210 106,437 90,240 66,234 46,959 
Total revenue and other income 114,482 97,513 79,375 54,140 41,065 
EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation) 24,309 9,071 15,484 4,856 6,017 

Change in share price (in $) (0.39) (1.53) 2.64 0.53 0.20 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.)

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONT.) 

B. PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE NATURE AND AMOUNT OF REMUNERATION (CONT.) 
Remuneration structure (cont.) 
(iii)  Group Performance (cont.) 
The graph below shows the Company’s closing share price since 1 July 2016 and the relative performance against the ASX All Ordinaries.

 

 
 
C. DETAILS OF REMUNERATION 
Performance for the year ended 30 June 2021 is reflected in the outcome of the variable components of the remuneration framework: 

• Group performance: Group IACV was delivered to 167% of management target which, based on the tiered earnings schedule, means 
that KMPs are entitled to a payout of 133.5% of their group performance target. 

• Individual performance: The People, Culture and Remuneration Committee review the Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director’s 
performance against the individual performance criteria set at the start of the year and review and endorse the Chief Executive Officer 
& Managing Director’s recommendations relating to KMP performance against individual targets.  

• The Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director’s individual performance criteria for FY21 included targets associated with setting the 
2025 strategy, designing and aligning the operating model to support this strategy and developing a highly functioning Executive 
Leadership team to deliver this strategy. The Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director was assessed to have achieved 81.25% of his 
KPIs.  

• Executives with a commission based STI were paid in accordance with the terms of their commission schemes. 
• STI payout percentages to Directors and key management personnel are shown below:
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.) 

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONT.) 

C. DETAILS OF REMUNERATION (CONT.) 
 

GROUP TARGET NET IACV  SALES TARGET GROSS IACV  
INDIVIDUAL TARGET  

FUNCTIONAL SPECIFIC  SUB-TOTAL 
   

 Target Actual  Target Actual  Target Actual  Target Actual  Discretionary TOTAL 
DIRECTORS 
R Newman 60% 80%  - -  40% 33%  100% 113%  - 113% 
               

OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
J Adams1 50% -  50% 66%  - -  100% 66%  - 66% 
T Celinski 60% 80%  - -  40% 40%  100% 120%  - 120% 
H Sanchez 60% 80%  - -  40% 40%  100% 120%  - 120% 
S Shugg 60% 80%  - -  40% 40%  100% 120%  - 120% 
A Watt 60% 80%  - -  40% 40%  100% 120%  - 120% 

 

1 Mr Adams resigned from his Chief Revenue Officer position on 30 June 2021. As a result, the Group performance component of Mr Adams’ STI will not be paid. Actual performance would have otherwise equated to a payout of 67% 
of the Group performance entitlement for Mr Adams, and total STI payment would have amounted to 133% of his total entitlement.  

LTI grants were awarded to the Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director and other KMPs as follows: 

• Dr Newman received a grant of 687,371 market-priced share options vesting in three years, as approved at the Company AGM on 12 November 2020 (executive annual award); 
• Mr Adams, Mr Celinski, Mr Sanchez, Ms Shugg and Mr Watt received grants on 12 November 2020 of 446,630, 419,689, 339,167, 415,336 and 393,574 market-priced share options respectively, vesting 

in three years (executive annual award). 

Grant Statutory remuneration tables 
The following table of KMP remuneration has been prepared in accordance with accounting standards and the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) requirements. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.) 

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONT.) 

C. DETAILS OF REMUNERATION (CONT.) 
  SHORT-TERM  LONG-TERM  POST-EMPLOYMENT       
  

SALARY & 
FEES1 CASH BONUS  

LONG 
SERVICE 
LEAVE2  

SUPER-
ANNUATION 

TERMINATION 
BENEFITS  

SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT 
OPTIONS3  TOTAL  

PERCENTAGE 
PERFORMANCE 

RELATED5 

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
P James 2021 146,499 -  -  13,917 -  -  160,416  - 
P James 2020 153,158 -  -  14,550 -  -  167,708  - 
T Horton 2021 100,457 -  -  9,543 -  -  110,000  - 
T Horton 2020 83,714 -  -  7,953 -  -  91,667  - 
S Klose 2021 100,457 -  -  9,543 -  -  110,000  - 
S Klose 2020 105,023 -  -  9,977 -  -  115,000  - 
R Norgard 2021 92,085 -  -  8,748 -  -  100,833  - 
R Norgard 2020 96,271 -  -  9,146 -  -  105,417  - 
C Rosenberg4 2021 100,833 -  -  - -  -  100,833  - 
C Rosenberg 2020 111,250 -  -  - -  -  111,250  - 
               
 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
R Newman 2021 559,167 355,894  21,477  21,964 -  596,661  1,555,163  53% 
R Newman 2020 584,583 157,751  12,450  21,003 -  306,630  1,082,417  43% 
               

1 Salary includes annual leave. All Non-executive Director and Executive Director fees were reduced by 25% for a period of 6 months, effective 1 May 2020 until 30 October 2020 due to COVID-19. 
2 Relates to long service leave accrued during the year with a negative balance representing an overall reduction in the employee leave provision compared to prior year. 
3 AASB 2 accounting value determined at grant date, recognised over the related vesting periods. The amount included as remuneration is not related to or indicative of the benefit (if any) that the individual key management personnel 
may ultimately realise should the equity instruments vest. The notional value of options as at the date of their grant has been determined in accordance with the accounting policy in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements. 
The balance also includes fringe-benefit tax incurred by the Group in granting limited recourse loans, where applicable. 
4 Mr Rosenberg elected to have his remuneration remitted through a management company. Total fees remitted were inclusive of superannuation guarantee contributions. 
5 Performance related remuneration comprises short-term cash bonuses together with share-based payments which are subject to Total Shareholder Return vesting conditions. 
 

ASX Listing Rule 10.17 states that ‘Directors’ fees’ constitutes fees, including superannuation, but excluding securities issued. The total Directors’ fees paid to Non-executive Directors during the year ended 30 
June 2021, excluding share-based payments, was $582,083 which is within the amount determined at the AGM on 15 November 2018. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.) 

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONT.) 

C. DETAILS OF REMUNERATION (CONT.) 
  SHORT-TERM  LONG-TERM  POST-EMPLOYMENT       
  

SALARY & 
FEES1 

CASH 
BONUS7  

LONG SERVICE 
LEAVE2  

SUPER-
ANNUATION 

TERMINATION 
BENEFITS  

SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT 
OPTIONS3  TOTAL  

PERCENTAGE 
PERFORMANCE 

RELATED4 

OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
A Watt 2021 317,333 217,341  5,741  21,694 -  276,307  838,416  59% 
A Watt 2020 328,667 90,251  2,527  21,003 -  179,999  622,447  44% 
T Celinski 2021 340,133 231,762  2,273  21,694 -  304,275  900,137  57% 
T Celinski 2020 352,367 96,251  1,557  21,003 -  210,071  681,249  36% 
H Sanchez 2021 270,667 187,296  1,329  21,694 -  250,195  731,181  56% 
H Sanchez 2020 280,333 77,751  130  21,003 -  174,047  553,264  36% 
S Shugg 2021 336,000 229,359  135  21,694 -  290,910  878,098  50% 
S Shugg5 2020 239,759 95,251  98  15,752 -  180,118  530,978  34% 
J Adams6 2021 522,073 175,681  -  - -  59,538  757,292  23% 
J Adams5 2020 165,498 81,211  -  - -  256,490  503,199  16% 
               

1 Salary includes annual leave. All KMP salary and fees were reduced by 20% for a period of 6 months, effective 1 May 2020 until 30 October 2020 due to COVID-19. 
2 Relates to long service leave accrued during the year with a negative balance representing an overall reduction in the employee leave provision compared to prior year. 
3 AASB 2 accounting value determined at grant date, recognised over the related vesting periods. The amount included as remuneration is not related to or indicative of the benefit (if any) that the individual key management personnel 
may ultimately realise should the equity instruments vest. The notional value of options as at the date of their grant has been determined in accordance with the accounting policy in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements. 
The balance also includes fringe-benefit tax incurred by the Group in granting limited recourse loans, where applicable. 
4 Performance related remuneration comprises short-term cash bonuses together with share-based payments which are subject to Total Shareholder Return vesting conditions. 
5 Ms Shugg and Mr Adams commenced on 24 October 2019 and 20 February 2020 respectively. The remuneration for these Executives reflects their time in their KMP roles in the comparative period.  
6 Mr Adams resigned from his Chief Revenue Officer position on 30 June 2021. As result, the Group performance component of Mr Adams’ STI has not been accrued for by the Group. 
7 Cash bonuses for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 were calculated on the unadjusted fixed remuneration of each KMP over the period. The amounts do not factor in the temporary COVID reduction that were effective 1 May 
2020 until 30 October 2020.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.) 

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONT.) 

C. DETAILS OF REMUNERATION (CONT.) 
The overall KMP fixed and variable remuneration framework is established by the People, Culture and Remuneration Committee. The 
proportion of fixed and potential at risk components for the KMP as a percentage of potential target total annual remuneration for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2021, is shown below: 

 SALARIES AND BENEFITS AT RISK – LTI1 AT RISK – STI 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS    
P James 100% - - 
T Horton 100%   
S Klose 100% - - 
R Norgard 100% - - 
C Rosenberg 100% - - 
    

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR    
R Newman 40% 40% 20% 
    

OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL    
A Watt 40% 40% 20% 
T Celinski 40% 40% 20% 
H Sanchez 40% 40% 20% 
S Shugg 40% 40% 20% 
J Adams 45% 33% 22% 
    

1 Annual LTI awards have performance related vesting conditions. See Section B for further detail on the remuneration structure of Directors and key 
management personnel. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.)

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONT.) 

C. DETAILS OF REMUNERATION (CONT.) 
Non-statutory remuneration table – executive director and KMPs 
The table below outlines each KMP’s awarded remuneration and received remuneration for the financial year ended 30 June 2021. This is a voluntary disclosure by management that differs from required 
statutory disclosures presented in the tables above which are prepared in accordance with the relevant accounting standards. This information is presented to provide further clarity on each KMP’s 
remuneration.  

     Remuneration awarded  Remuneration received 
 

Year  
Current year 

remuneration1  

Deferred equity incentive 
granted during the financial 

year2 

Total 
remuneration 

awarded3  

Prior years’ deferred 
equity incentive vested 

during the financial year4 Equity growth5 
Total actual 

remuneration received6 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR      
R Newman 2021  936,755  631,694 1,568,449  232,543 1,405,455 2,574,753 
R Newman 2020  763,337  631,002 1,394,339  146,039 993,961 1,903,337 
           
OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL      
A Watt 2021  556,368  361,695 918,063  138,631 837,868 1,532,867 
A Watt 2020  439,921  361,003 800,924  186,767 1,244,921 1,871,609 
T Celinski 2021  593,590  385,694 979,284  129,013 413,664 1,136,267 
T Celinski 2020  469,921  385,003 854,924  109,332 263,261 842,514 
H Sanchez 2021  479,657  311,694 791,351  50,492 40,769 570,918 
H Sanchez 2020  379,087  311,003 690,090  34,407 67,770 481,264 
S Shugg 2021  587,053  381,694 968,747  - - 587,053 
S Shugg 2020  350,762  598,761 949,523  - - 350,762 
J Adams 2021  697,754  410,453 1,108,207  316,028 54,028 1,067,810 
J Adams 2020  246,709  1,042,200 1,288,909  - - 246,709 

 
1 Current year remuneration includes salary & fees, cash bonus, superannuation, and termination benefits (if any) as disclosed in the statutory remuneration tables. Current year remuneration does not include the value related to long 
service leave entitlement. 
2 Deferred equity incentive granted during the financial year reflects the fair value at the grant date of the options granted, determined in accordance with AASB 2. 
3 Total remuneration awarded includes current year remuneration and deferred equity incentive granted during the financial year. 
4 Prior years’ deferred equity incentive vested during the financial year represents the fair value, determined in accordance with AASB 2, of options granted in previous financial years for which the KMPs have met the vesting conditions 
during the financial year. Where no options have vested, or options have vested but exercise price is higher than share price on vesting date, the value disclosed is nil. This value may differ as at 30 June 2021. 
5 Equity growth is calculated as the total market value of the vested options on vesting date (based on the 5-day VWAP of share price as at that date), less total exercise price payable, less the value disclosed in column “prior years’ 
deferred equity incentive vested during the financial year”. This value may differ from the equity growth as at 30 June 2021. 
6 Total remuneration received includes current year remuneration, prior years’ deferred equity incentive vested during the financial year, and equity growth. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.)

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONT.) 

D. EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS 
All executive employees and KMPs are employed under contract. All executives have ongoing contracts and as such only have 
commencement dates and no expiry dates. Details of KMP contracts as at 30 June 2021 are: 

NAME  NOTICE PERIOD FOR 
TERMINATION 

R Newman  6 months 
A Watt  4 months 
T Celinski  3 months 
H Sanchez  3 months 
S Shugg  3 months 
J Adams  3 months 

 
On resignation, any unvested options are forfeited. Limited recourse loans (LRLs) were granted to key management personnel in respect to 
vested premium-priced options in the past. If an employee ceases to be employed by the Group (including by way of resignation, retirement, 
dismissal, etc) and has an outstanding LRL, the employee may elect to have the Company sell the loan shares and apply the net proceeds of 
the sale in repayment of the loan or repay the outstanding amount on the loan. This determination must generally be made within one 
month of the date of ceased employment. 

The Group may terminate an employment agreement by providing the respective written notice period or provide payment in lieu of the 
notice period (based on the fixed component of remuneration). On such termination by the Group, any LTI options that have vested, or will 
vest during the notice period will be required to be exercised within 180 days from termination date or the options expiry date if earlier. LTI 
options that have not yet vested will be forfeited. 

The Group may terminate an employment contract at any time without notice if serious misconduct has occurred. Where termination with 
cause occurs, the employee is only entitled to that portion of remuneration, which is fixed, and only up to the date of termination. On 
termination with cause any unvested options will immediately be forfeited.  

There are no formal contracts between the Company and Non-executive Directors in relation to remuneration other than the letter of 
appointment that stipulates the remuneration as at the commencement date. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.)

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONT.) 

E. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 
Options 
A share option incentive scheme, the Nearmap Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP), has been established whereby Directors and certain 
employees of the Group may be issued options over ordinary shares of the Company. 

In Australia, up until 30 June 2017, options were issued for nil consideration at an exercise price calculated with reference to prevailing 
market prices and a 43% premium in accordance with performance guidelines established by the Directors of the Company. From 1 July 
2017, all options issued are for nil consideration at an exercise price calculated with reference to prevailing market prices. In the US, options 
are issued for nil consideration at an exercise price calculated with reference to the prevailing market price. The options are usually issued 
with a term of four years and are exercisable on various dates within four years from grant date. 

The grants are either issued for 4 years:  

 with TSR growth performance vesting conditions and are exercisable after three years (annual grant); or 
 without any performance vesting conditions, usually exercisable in two or three equal annual tranches when vested (new hire grant). 

The options only vest under certain conditions, principally centred on the employee still being employed at the time of vesting (that is, once 
the service has been satisfied), or specified performance hurdles being achieved to determine vesting. The options cannot be transferred 
without the approval of the Company’s Board and are not quoted on the ASX. As a result, plan participants may not enter into any transaction 
designed to remove the “at risk” aspect of an option before it is exercised. 

Refer to the tables later in this section for details of the options that were issued to KMPs during the year ended 30 June 2021. 

Limited recourse loans (LRLs) 
The Nearmap ESOP includes an Employee Loan Scheme that permits the Company to grant financial assistance to Australia-based 
employees by way of LRLs to enable them to exercise premium priced options granted prior to 30 June 2017 and acquire shares. Interest on 
the loans is payable by KMPs at loan maturity and accrues daily. The Company determines the rate of interest applicable to LRLs (currently 
the cash rate set by the Reserve Bank of Australia plus 20 basis points). Loans are repayable four years after the issue date subject to the 
total share value being greater than the loan’s principal plus accrued interest. 

For accounting purposes, the granting of the LRL is considered to be a modification to the existing option. Any increase in the fair value of 
the option is recognised as an expense immediately at the date the limited recourse loan is granted. 

If the employee fails to repay the loan, Nearmap takes security over the option shares and can sell some or all of the shares to repay the 
loan. In the event that the shares are sold for an amount less than the amount of the loan and any interest, the employee is only required to 
repay the loan and any interest to the amount of the sale proceeds. Nearmap has no other recourse against the employee. 

The Group does not expect to grant new LRLs in future financial years as the last premium priced options held by Australia-based KMPs were 
exercised during the year ended 30 June 2020.

Compensation options 
(i) Grants made prior to 30 June 2017 
Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one fully paid ordinary share in the Company at an exercise price determined at a 43% 
premium to the market price of the shares on the date of grant (Australia) or with reference to the prevailing market price on grant date 
(US). When an individual is granted an LRL to exercise their option, the effect is to extend the life of the original option. The exercise price 
includes interest accrued. 

(ii) Grants made after 30 June 2017 
Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one fully paid ordinary share in the Company at an exercise price determined with reference 
to the market price of the shares on the date of grant.  

Details on unvested options over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted as compensation to each KMP during the reporting 
period, lapsed or forfeited by KMP during the reporting period, and vested during the reporting period are as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.) 

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONT.) 

E. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (CONT.) 

YEAR ENDED 30 
JUNE 2021 

UNVESTED 
BALANCE 1 

JULY 

GRANTED 
DURING THE 

PERIOD 

LAPSED OR 
FORFEITED 

DURING THE 
PERIOD 

VESTED 
DURING THE 

PERIOD 

UNVESTED 
BALANCE AT 

30 JUNE 
GRANT 

DATE 

VALUE PER 
OPTION/SHARE 

AT GRANT DATE1 

$ 

EXERCISE PRICE PER SHARE 
(OPTIONS)/CURRENT PRICE 

PER SHARE (LOANS) 
$ 

VESTING 
DATE 

EXPIRY 
DATE 

DIRECTORS 
R Newman 
- Options 933,908 - - 933,908 - Nov 17 0.2490 0.71 Nov 20 Nov 21 
- Options 556,009 - - - 556,009 Nov 18 0.4910 1.60 Nov 21 Nov 22 
- Options 812,101 - - - 812,101 Nov 19 0.7770 2.48 Nov 22 Nov 23 
- Options - 687,371 - - 687,371 Nov 20 0.9190 2.51 Nov 23 Nov 24 
           

OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
J Adams           
- Options 500,000 - - 500,000 - Feb 20 0.6321 1.81 Feb 21 Feb 24 
- Options 500,000 - 500,000 - - Feb 20 0.6899 1.81 Feb 22 Feb 24 
- Options 500,000 - 500,000 - - Feb 20 0.7625 1.81 Feb 23 Feb 24 
- Options - 446,630 446,630 - - Nov 20 0.9190 2.51 Nov 23 Nov 24 
           

T Celinski           
- Options 334,000 - - 334,000 - Feb 18 0.3863 0.82 Feb 21 Feb 22 
- Options 377,324 - - - 377,324 Dec 18 0.4910 1.60 Nov 21 Nov 22 
- Options 495,499 - - - 495,499 Nov 19 0.7770 2.48 Nov 22 Nov 23 
- Options - 419,689 - - 419,689 Nov 20 0.9190 2.51 Nov 23 Nov 24 

 
1 AASB 2 accounting value determined at grant date. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.) 

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONT.) 

E. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (CONT.) 

YEAR ENDED 30 
JUNE 2021 

UNVESTED 
BALANCE 1 

JULY 

GRANTED 
DURING THE 

PERIOD 

LAPSED OR 
FORFEITED 

DURING THE 
PERIOD 

VESTED 
DURING THE 

PERIOD 

UNVESTED 
BALANCE AT 

30 JUNE 
GRANT 

DATE 

VALUE PER 
OPTION/SHARE 

AT GRANT DATE1 

$ 

EXERCISE PRICE PER SHARE 
(OPTIONS)/CURRENT PRICE 

PER SHARE (LOANS) 
$ 

VESTING 
DATE 

EXPIRY 
DATE 

OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
H Sanchez 
- Options 120,000 - - 120,000 - Oct 18 0.4208 1.65 Oct 20 Oct 22 
- Options 120,000 - - - 120,000 Oct 18 0.5218 1.65 Oct 21 Oct 22 
- Options 300,949 - - - 300,949 Dec 18 0.4910 1.60 Nov 21 Nov 22 
- Options 400,261 - - - 400,261 Nov 19 0.7770 2.48 Nov 22 Nov 23  
- Options - 339,167 - - 339,167 Nov 20 0.9190 2.51 Nov 23 Nov 24  
           

S Shugg           
- Options 66,667 - - 66,667 - Oct 19 0.9636 2.97 Oct 20 Oct 23 
- Options 66,667 - - - 66,667 Oct 19 1.0670 2.97 Oct 21 Oct 23 
- Options 66,666 - - - 66,666 Oct 19 1.2358 2.97 Oct 22 Oct 23 
- Options 490,351 - - - 490,351 Nov 19 0.7770 2.48 Nov 22 Nov 23 
- Options - 415,336 - - 415,336 Nov 20 0.9190 2.51 Nov 23 Nov 24  
           

A Watt           
- Options 556,753 - - 556,753 - Nov 17 0.2490 0.71 Nov 20 Nov 21 
- Options 346,774 - -  346,774 Dec 18 0.4910 1.60 Nov 21 Nov 22 
- Options 464,611 - -  464,611 Nov 19 0.7770 2.48 Nov 22 Nov 23 
- Options - 393,574 - - 393,574 Nov 20 0.9190 2.51 Nov 23 Nov 24  
           

1 AASB 2 accounting value determined at grant date. 

All unvested options expire on the earlier of their expiry date or termination of the individual’s employment. In addition to a continuing employment service condition, vesting of the annual executive grant is 
conditional on the Group achieving certain performance hurdles. Details of the performance criteria are included in the long-term incentives section on pages 18-19. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.) 

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONT.) 

F. TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
Options over shares held in the Company  
The movement during the reporting period by number of options on ordinary shares held directly or indirectly by each key management person is as follows: 

YEAR ENDED 30 
JUNE 2021 

BALANCE AT 1 
JULY 20 

GRANTED AS 
COMPENSATION EXERCISED 

VALUE 
EXERCISED1 

$ FORFEITED 
BALANCE AT 30 

JUNE 21 
VESTED DURING 

THE YEAR 

VESTED AND 
EXERCISABLE AT 

30 JUNE 21 
DIRECTORS 
R Newman 2,302,018 687,371 933,908 1,092,648 - 2,055,481 933,908 - 
         

OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
J Adams 1,500,000 446,630 - - (1,446,630) 500,000 500,000 500,000 
T Celinski 1,539,823 419,689 - - - 1,959,512 334,000 667,000 
H Sanchez 1,061,210 339,167 - - - 1,400,377 120,000 240,000 
S Shugg 690,351 415,336 - - - 1,105,687 66,667 66,667 
A Watt 1,368,138 393,574 556,753 1,080,253 - 1,204,959 556,753 - 

 

1 Value determined based on the share price at exercise date less exercise price. 

Loan shares held in the Company  
The shares held in the Company include loan shares as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 During the year ended 30 June 2021, LRLs relating to 600,000 shares were repaid, releasing the shares from holding lock. 
 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
BALANCE AT  

1 JULY 20 
EXERCISE OF 

OPTIONS 
NET OTHER  

CHANGE1 
BALANCE AT 

30 JUNE 21 
BALANCE HELD  

NOMINALLY 
DIRECTORS      
R Newman 4,600,000 - (600,000) 4,000,000 4,000,000 
      

OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
A Watt 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 2,500,000 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.)

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONT.) 

F. TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (CONT.) 
Financial assistance under the Employee Share Option Plan 
LRLs advanced to KMPs during the year ended 30 June 2021 amounted to $nil (30 June 2020: $1,647,009). Interest on the loans during the period has been accrued at a rate of between 0.30% and 0.45%. The 
loans are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

Shares held in the Company  
During the year ended 30 June 2021, the number of shares held by key management personnel changed per the table below. This includes the issue of shares following the exercise of options previously 
granted as compensation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

There are no amounts unpaid on the shares as a result of the exercise of the options in the year ended 30 June 2021. 

G. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
The Group has applied the fair value measurement provisions of AASB 2 Share-based Payment for all options and restricted stock units (RSUs) granted to Directors and employees. The fair value of such grants 
is being amortised and disclosed as part of Director and employee remuneration on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. The fair value of executive option plans at grant date is determined using a 
Black-Scholes or Monte Carlo option pricing model depending on the terms and conditions of each option, that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the vesting and performance 
criteria, the impact of dilution, the non-tradeable nature of the option, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest 
rate for the term of the option.

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
BALANCE AT 

1 JULY 20 
EXERCISE OF 

OPTIONS 

AMOUNT 
PAID/OPTION 

$ 
SHARES 

PURCHASED SHARES SOLD 
BALANCE AT 30 

JUNE 21 
BALANCE HELD 

NOMINALLY 
DIRECTORS 
P James 2,382,000 - - 70,543 (382,075) 2,070,468 2,070,468 
R Newman 9,600,000 933,908 0.71 13,043 - 10,546,951 10,546,951 
T Horton 20,000 - - 4,347 - 24,347 24,347 
S Klose 100,000 - - 13,043 - 113,043 113,043 
R Norgard 27,738,921 - - 1,013,043 (4,178,046) 24,573,918 24,533,918 
C Rosenberg 3,201,000 - - 13,043 - 3,214,043 3,214,043 
        

OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
A Watt 2,508,456 556,753 0.71 - (556,753) 2,508,456 2,508,456 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.)
 
REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED (CONT.) 

H. UNISSUED ORDINARY SHARES 
All unissued ordinary shares of the Company (relating to key management personnel and other personnel) as at 30 June 2021 are listed 
below: 

GRANT DATE TYPE EXPIRY DATE OF OPTIONS EXERCISE PRICE OF OPTIONS UNISSUED SHARES 
     

ESOP     
Dec 17 Options Nov 21 $0.71 980,732 
Feb 18 Options Nov 21 $0.71 106,196 
Feb 18 Options Feb 22 $0.82 667,000 
Jul 18 Options Jul 22 $1.12 100,000 
Oct 18 Options Oct 22 $1.65 360,000 
Nov 18 Options Nov 22 $1.60 2,923,979 
Oct 19 Options Oct 23 $2.97 200,000 
Nov 19 Options Nov 23 $2.48 3,791,276 
Feb 20 Options Feb 24 $1.81 500,000 
Nov 20 Options Nov 24 $2.51 2,255,137 
     

LTI     
Oct 19 Options Oct 23 $2.58 727,217 
Oct 19 RSUs - - 314,265 
Jan 20 RSUs - - 7,070 
Apr 20 RSUs - - 3,725 
Jul 20 Options Jul 24 $2.16 625,253 
Jul 20 RSUs - - 738,177 
Dec 20 RSUs - - 10,378 
Jan 21 RSUs - - 49,077 
Apr 21 Options Jul 24 $2.21 235,487 
Apr 21 RSUs - - 7,213 

    14,602,182 
This is the end of the audited remuneration report.
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KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated 
with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and 
logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation. Liability limited by 
a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 

To the Directors of Nearmap Limited 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Nearmap Limited for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2021 there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG Caoimhe Toouli 

Partner 

Sydney 

17 August 2021 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

 
1 Net finance costs exclude finance income which is presented within other income. 

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements on pages 39 to 76. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
  NOTES $’000 $’000 
    
Revenue  113,431 96,714 
Other income1  1,051 799 
TOTAL REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 3 114,482 97,513 
      
Employee benefits expense 4 (58,629) (56,542) 
Amortisation 12 (35,648) (38,200) 
Depreciation 13 (9,464) (8,498) 
Other operational expenses 4 (31,007) (31,224) 
TOTAL EXPENSES  (134,748) (134,464) 
OPERATING LOSS  (20,266) (36,951) 
        
Net finance costs1 6 (2,189) (152) 
LOSS BEFORE TAX   (22,455) (37,103)     
    
Income tax benefit 7 3,635 386 
LOSS AFTER TAX FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE  
TO THE OWNERS OF NEARMAP LTD 

 (18,820) (36,717) 

     
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME      
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:      
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (413) (44) 
Fair value gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges  28 (957) 
Transfer of hedging losses/(gains) to the consolidated statement of profit or loss  957 (103) 
Income tax associated with these items  (295) 318 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR  277 (786) 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE  
TO THE OWNERS OF NEARMAP LTD 

 (18,543) (37,503) 
      
LOSS PER SHARE      
Basic loss per share for the year (cents per share)  15 (3.88) (8.14) 
Diluted loss per share for the year (cents per share)  15 (3.88) (8.14) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

 
1 In the prior year, contract assets of $3,927 thousand were presented within trade receivables. In the current year, contract assets are presented either within 
other current receivables (when the contract is in a net asset position), or within unearned revenue (when the contract is in a net liability position) to better 
reflect their nature. Comparative figures have been adjusted accordingly and have had no impact on the Group’s consolidated net working capital, 
consolidated net assets, or consolidated net loss.  

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements on pages 39 to 76. 

    
    
  30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 

  NOTES $’000 $’000 
    
CURRENT ASSETS     
Cash and cash equivalents 18 123,431 36,140 
Trade receivables1 9 23,855 19,779 
Other current receivables1 16 5,485 2,417 
Prepayments and other current assets  6,260 3,180 
Current tax receivable  147 - 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  159,178 61,516 
      
NON-CURRENT ASSETS      
Property, plant and equipment 13 25,095 33,408 
Intangible assets 12 49,269 47,415 
Deferred tax assets 7 5,767 4,313 
Other non-current receivables 16 370 - 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  80,501 85,136 
TOTAL ASSETS  239,679 146,652 
      
CURRENT LIABILITIES      
Trade and other payables  7,612 5,574 
Unearned revenue1 3 55,837 47,454 
Employee benefits  11,775 6,534 
Lease liabilities 10 4,681 4,500 
Other current liabilities  38 2,398 
Current tax liabilities  - 1,220 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  79,943 67,680 
      
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Unearned revenue 3 945 - 
Deferred tax liabilities 7 8,240 9,716 
Employee benefits   602 379 
Lease liabilities 10 5,145 9,896 
Other non-current liabilities 14 2,150 2,233 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  17,082 22,224 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  97,025 89,904 
      
NET ASSETS  142,654 56,748 
      
EQUITY      
Contributed equity 8 224,192 126,577 
Reserves  26,106 19,055 
Profits reserve  7,078 7,078 
Accumulated losses   (114,722) (95,962) 
TOTAL EQUITY  142,654 56,748 F
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

   30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
 NOTES $’000 $’000 
    

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Receipts from customers  123,764 100,189 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (92,336) (87,290) 
Interest received  187 849 
Other receipts  - 10 
Income taxes paid  (571) (1,670) 
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 17 31,044 12,088 
   

 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Investment in fixed-term deposits  (2,356) - 
Purchase of plant and equipment  (1,924) (8,253) 
Payments for development costs  (11,848) (17,436) 
Payments for capture costs  (20,024) (24,085) 
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment  - 251 
Proceeds from sale of unlisted investments  514 - 
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (35,638) (49,523) 
   

 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from share offer, net of transaction costs  92,728 - 
Proceeds from exercise of share options  2,908 1,596 
Proceeds from repayment of share option loans  1,078 396 
Payments for treasury shares  - (400) 
Payments for lease liabilities1 10 (4,658) (3,921) 
NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  92,056 (2,329) 
   

 

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  87,462 (39,764) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  36,140 75,914 
Effect of movement of exchange rates on cash held  (171) (10) 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 18 123,431 36,140 

 
1 The Group has classified cash payments for the principal portion and the interest portion of lease payments as financing activities. 

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements on 
pages 39 to 76. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

 
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements on pages 39 to 76.

  
 CONTRIBUTED 

EQUITY 
ACCUMULATED 

LOSSES 
PROFITS 
RESERVE 

SHARE-BASED  
PAYMENTS RESERVE 

OTHER  
RESERVES 

TOTAL 
EQUITY 

 NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
        
AT 1 JULY 2020  126,577 (95,962) 7,078 20,051 (996) 56,748 
        
Loss for the year   - (18,820) - - - (18,820) 
Other comprehensive income:        
Fair value loss on cash flow hedges (net of tax)  - - - - 20 20 
Transfer of hedging losses to the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss (net of tax)  - - - - 670 670 

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  - - - - (413) (413) 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR   - (18,820) - - 277 (18,543) 
        
Transactions with owners of the Company:              
Share issue 8 93,475 - - - - 93,475 
Share options exercised 8 2,908 - - - - 2,908 
Repayment of share option loans 8 1,078 - - - - 1,078 
Share-based payment expense 5 - - - 6,988 - 6,988 
Treasury shares transferred to employees 8 154 60 - (214) - - 
AT 30 JUNE 2021  224,192 (114,722) 7,078 26,825 (719) 142,654 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 

 
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements on pages 39 to 76.

  
 

CONTRIBUTED 
EQUITY 

ACCUMULATED 
LOSSES 

PROFITS 
RESERVE 

SHARE-BASED  
PAYMENTS 

RESERVE 

OTHER  
RESERVES 

TOTAL  
EQUITY 

 NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
        
AT 30 JUNE 2019  124,617 (58,885) 7,078 15,053 (210) 87,653 
Adjustment on initial application of  
AASB 16 (net of tax)  - (358) - - - (358) 

AT 1 JULY 2019  124,617 (59,243) 7,708 15,053 (210) 87,295 
        
Loss for the year   - (36,717) - - - (36,717) 
Other comprehensive income:        
Fair value loss on cash flow hedges (net of tax)  - - - - (670) (670) 
Transfer of hedging gains to the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss (net of tax)  - - - - (72) (72) 

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  - - - - (44) (44) 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR   - (36,717) - - (786) (37,503) 
        
Transactions with owners of the Company:              
Share options exercised 8 1,596 - - - - 1,596 
Repayment of share option loans 8 396 - - - - 396 
Share-based payment expense 5 - - - 5,364 - 5,364 
Treasury shares acquired 8 (400) - - - - (400) 
Treasury shares transferred to employees 8 368 (2) - (366) - - 
AT 30 JUNE 2020  126,577 (95,962) 7,078 20,051 (996) 56,748 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

The notes include information which is required to understand the consolidated financial statements and is material and relevant to the 
financial position and performance of the Group. The notes are organised into the following sections: 

A. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
1. Reporting entity 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

B. KEY FINANCIAL RESULTS 
3. Segment results, revenue, and other income 
4. Expenses 
5. Share-based payment plans 
6. Net finance costs 
7. Income tax 

C. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
8. Capital and reserves 
9. Financial instruments 
10. Leases 
11. Dividends paid on ordinary shares 

D. INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
12. Intangible assets 
13. Property, plant, and equipment 

E. OTHER 
14. Provisions 
15. Basic and Diluted Earnings per share  
16. Other current and non-current receivables  
17. Reconciliation of cash flow from operating activities 
18. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
19. Parent entity information 
20. Group entities 
21. Auditor’s remuneration 
22. Related parties 
23. Contingent liabilities 
24. Subsequent events 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

A. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

IN THIS SECTION 

This section sets out the basis upon which the Group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared as a whole. Specific accounting 
policies are described in their respective notes to the consolidated financial statements. This section also shows information on new 
accounting standards, amendments and interpretations, and whether they are effective in the year ended 30 June 2021 or later years. 
We explain how these changes are expected to impact the financial position and performance of the Group.  

 REPORTING ENTITY 

Nearmap Ltd (the “Company”) is a for-profit company domiciled in Australia. These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 
June 2021 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The Company's registered office is at Level 4, 
Tower One, International Towers 100 Barangaroo Avenue, Barangaroo NSW 2000. 

The principal activity of the Group during the course of the financial year was the provision of cloud-based geospatial information services 
and location intelligence content. The Company conducts aerial surveys capturing wide-scale urban areas in Australia, New Zealand and 
North America, providing location intelligence insights to a diverse range of businesses and government organisations via subscription 
through its 100% owned subsidiaries, Nearmap Australia Pty Ltd and Nearmap US Inc.  

Going concern basis of accounting 
The Group has recognised a net loss after tax of $18,820 thousand for the year ended 30 June 2021. As at that date, the Group has no 
external debt, $123,431 thousand of cash and cash equivalent, current assets exceed current liabilities by $79,235 thousand and net 
operating cash inflows of $31,044 thousand. The Group has not seen any material impact from COVID-19 on business performance, 
evidenced by strengthening ACV portfolio growth and by the fact that there has been no discernible impact on the Group’s ability to recover 
its trade receivable balances. As a result, the Group did not receive financial assistance initiated by governments in response to COVID-19 
(e.g. JobKeeper program in Australia). 
The Group’s current liabilities as at 30 June 2021 include unearned revenue of $55,837 thousand (30 June 2020: $47,454 thousand). 
Unearned revenue includes revenue received in advance which has been deferred in the consolidated statement of financial position until 
the service is performed. These liabilities are expected to be settled without a corresponding cash outflow. The consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes the Group will continue its operations and be able to meet its 
obligations as and when they become due and payable. This assumption is based on the Group’s ability to meet its future cash flow 
requirements based on the Group’s cash flow forecast and existing cash reserves held as at 30 June 2021. 

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on Tuesday, 17 August 2021. 

 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Statement of compliance 
These consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The 
consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and Interpretations (IFRICs) as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments and share-
based payments, which are respectively measured at fair value in accordance with AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2 Share-based 
Payment. 

Functional and presentation currency 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Nearmap Ltd’s functional and presentation currency. 

Rounding of amounts 
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191 and in accordance 
with that instrument, amounts in the consolidated financial statements and Directors’ Report have been rounded off to the nearest 
thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Nearmap Ltd  
 

41 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

A. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT.) 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

Principles of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate all assets, liabilities and results of the Company and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are all 
those entities over which the Group has control. The Company controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The assets, liabilities and results 
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences, until the date that control 
ceases. Where the Company ceases to have control of a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets, liabilities and other components of equity of 
the subsidiary. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former 
subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, income and expenses, and profit and losses 
resulting from intra-group transactions have been eliminated. 

Foreign currencies 
Foreign currency transactions 
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured 
using that functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the exchange rates ruling 
at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency 
at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. However, foreign currency differences arising from the translation of qualifying 
cash flow hedges (to the extent that the hedges are effective) and foreign currency differences arising from monetary items that in substance 
form part of the net investment in the foreign operations are recognised in other reserves in other comprehensive income (OCI). 

Foreign operations 
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income 
and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign 
currency differences are recognised in OCI and presented in the foreign currency translation reserve (FCTR) included in other reserves in 
equity. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the FCTR is transferred to the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal. 

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management makes judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expense. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.  

The key judgements and estimates which are material to the financial report are found in the following notes: 

 NOTE PAGE 
 

  
Share-based payment plans – fair value of options granted 5 50 
Income tax – recognition of carry forward losses and uncertainty over tax treatment 7 53 
Trade receivables – expected credit loss 9 57 
Leases – term  10 62 
Intangibles – recognition, recoverability, and useful life 12 65 
   F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

A. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT.) 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

Changes in accounting policies 
In April 2021, the International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) issued a final agenda decision, Configuration 
or customisation costs in a cloud computing arrangement, effective immediately with retrospective application. The decision discusses 
whether configuration or customisation expenditure relating to cloud computing arrangements is able to be recognised as an intangible 
asset and if so, over what time period the expenditure is expensed. The Group’s accounting policy has historically been to recognise all costs 
related to configuration and configuration of cloud computing arrangements in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as they are 
incurred. The Group has concluded that the decision has not had a material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.    

A number of other standards and amendments to standards are effective from 1 July 2020 but they do not have a material effect on the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements, or they have been early adopted in preparing the 30 June 2020 consolidated financial statements.  

Standards on issue but not yet effective 
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after 1 July 2020 and earlier 
application is permitted. During the year, the Group early adopted COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to AASB 16). Under the 
amendment, reporting entities may elect to apply the practical expedient whereby rental discounts obtained as a direct consequence of 
COVID-19 do not need to be treated as a lease modification. Instead, the rent concessions are recognised as a variable lease fee in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The relief has not had a material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. The 
following amended standards and interpretations are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements once applied:  

(i) Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 
(ii) Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3) 
(iii) Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

B. KEY FINANCIAL RESULTS 

IN THIS SECTION 

This section explains the results and performance of the Group and provides additional information about those individual line items in 
the consolidated financial statements that the Directors consider most relevant in the context of the operations of the Group, including: 

- Accounting policies that are relevant for understanding the items recognised in the consolidated financial statements. 
-  Analysis of the Group’s result for the year by reference to key areas, including segment results and revenue, operational expenses, 
personnel costs including share-based payments, net finance costs and income tax. 

 SEGMENT RESULTS, REVENUE, AND OTHER INCOME 

This note provides results by operating segment for the year ended 30 June 2021. Operating segments are reported in a manner that is 
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM). The CODM has been identified as the 
Nearmap Executive Team and the Board of Directors which ultimately make strategic decisions. This note also provides additional 
information on revenue, including types of revenue, primary geographical market of customer and the industry in which the Group’s 
customers operate. 

Segment reporting 
The CODM assess the Group’s performance based on geographical areas of operation. Accordingly, the Group has identified two reportable 
segments, which are presented below: 

SEGMENT INFORMATION 
Australia & New Zealand (ANZ) Responsible for all sales and marketing efforts in Australia and New Zealand. 
North America (NA) Responsible for all sales and marketing efforts in the United States and Canada. 

Cost of revenue are all the costs directly attributable to the ongoing delivery of the subscription product, including amortisation of capture 
costs. Sales and marketing costs include direct in-country costs. A portion of general and administration costs, representing general operating 
expenses, remain unallocated in determining the segment contribution presented to the CODM. These unallocated costs comprise the 
product and technology department costs, and the portion of the corporate department costs that are not allocated to specific segments. 

The assets and liabilities of the Group are reported and reviewed by the CODM in total and are not allocated by operating segment. Operating 
segment assets and liabilities are therefore not disclosed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

B. KEY FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONT.) 
3. SEGMENT RESULTS, REVENUE, AND OTHER INCOME (CONT.) 

Segment reporting (cont.) 
     
 ANZ NA Unallocated Total 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
Revenue  65,883 47,548 - 113,431 
TOTAL REVENUE 65,883 47,548 - 113,431 
     
Capture cost amortisation (4,415) (18,808) - (23,223) 
Storage, administration & other (1,188) (7,641) - (8,829) 
TOTAL COST OF REVENUE (5,603) (26,449) - (32,052) 
     
GROSS PROFIT  60,280 21,099 - 81,379 
GROSS MARGIN % 91% 44% - 72% 
     
Direct sales & marketing  (7,869) (14,424) - (22,293) 
Indirect sales & marketing (9,135) (9,450) - (18,585) 
Contract acquisition amortisation (138) (362) - (500) 
TOTAL SALES & MARKETING COSTS (17,142) (24,236) - (41,378) 
     
General & administration (10,925) (9,039) (19,965) (39,929) 
Overhead depreciation (2,392) (1,806) (1,758) (5,956) 
Other income - - 1,051 1,051 
Finance costs1 - - (535) (535) 
TOTAL GENERAL & ADMINISTRATION  (13,317) (10,845) (21,207) (45,369) 
     
SEGMENT CONTRIBUTION 29,821 (13,982) (21,207) (5,368) 
Amortisation & depreciation of unallocated assets    (15,433) 
Foreign exchange loss    (1,654) 
LOSS BEFORE TAX    (22,455) 
Income tax benefit      3,635 
LOSS AFTER TAX       (18,820) 

 
1 Excluding foreign exchange gains, which are presented on a consolidated level below segment contribution.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

B. KEY FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONT.) 
3. SEGMENT RESULTS, REVENUE, AND OTHER INCOME (CONT.) 

Segment reporting (cont.) 
     

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
ANZ NA Unallocated Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
Revenue  60,223 36,491 - 96,714 
TOTAL REVENUE 60,223 36,491 - 96,714 
     
Capture cost amortisation (6,000) (23,529) - (29,529) 
Storage, administration & other (1,025) (5,537) - (6,562) 
TOTAL COST OF REVENUE (7,025) (29,066) - (36,091) 
     
GROSS PROFIT  53,198 7,425 - 60,623 
GROSS MARGIN % 88% 20% - 63% 
     
Direct sales & marketing  (8,906) (19,864) - (28,770) 
Indirect sales & marketing (5,878) (8,129) - (14,007) 
TOTAL SALES & MARKETING COSTS (14,784) (27,993) - (42,777) 
     
General & administration (10,725) (9,233) (18,469) (38,427) 
Overhead depreciation (2,162) (1,638) (1,570) (5,370) 
Other income - - 799 799 
Finance costs1 - - (681) (681) 
TOTAL GENERAL & ADMINISTRATION  (12,887) (10,871) (19,921) (43,679) 
     
SEGMENT CONTRIBUTION 25,527 (31,439) (19,921) (25,833) 
Amortisation & depreciation of unallocated assets 

   
(11,799) 

Foreign exchange gain 
   

529 
LOSS BEFORE TAX    (37,103) 
Income tax benefit      386 
LOSS AFTER TAX       (36,717) 

 
1 Excluding foreign exchange loss, which are presented on a consolidated level below segment contribution. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

B. KEY FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONT.) 
3. SEGMENT RESULTS, REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (CONT.) 

Revenue and other income 

ACCOUNTING POLICY – RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT OF REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 

The Group derives its revenue primarily from subscription fees for its online location intelligence services and, to a lesser extent royalty 
services and perpetual licence fees. Revenue is recognised when control of these services is transferred to the Group’s customers, in an 
amount that reflects the consideration the Group expects to be entitled to in an exchange for those services, excluding GST. 

The following paragraphs provide information about the nature and timing of satisfaction of performance obligations in contracts with 
customers, including revenue recognition policies: 

 Subscription revenue: The Group’s subscription services represent a single promise to provide continuous access to its cloud-based 
geospatial information services and location intelligence content. As each day of providing access to the software is substantially 
the same and the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefit as access is provided, the Group has determined 
that its subscriptions services arrangement include a single performance obligation comprised of a series of distinct services. 
Revenue from subscription services is recognised over time on a rateable basis over the contract term beginning on the date that 
the Group’s service is made available to the customer. Subscription periods are typically annual or multi-year in duration, are billed 
in advance and are non-refundable. Typically, subscriptions automatically renew at the end of the subscription period unless the 
customer specifically terminates it prior to the end of the period. 

 Perpetual licence revenue: From time to time, the Group may enter into contracts with customers whereby the customer obtains 
a perpetual licence to use the imagery. The Group determined that for perpetual licences the customer obtains control over the 
imagery when it is delivered, which is typically off-cloud through a download link, at which point revenue is recognised.  

 Royalty revenue: The Group earns royalty revenue through third parties who sell Nearmap imagery on behalf of the Group. 
Revenue is recognised when the performance obligation to which the royalty relates has been satisfied.  

 Grant income: reflects the New South Wales payroll grant received from the Office of State Revenue when incremental headcounts 
is hired for new jobs created. 

 Interest income: The Group invests its surplus cash in interest-bearing financial assets. The interest earned by the Group is 
recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. 

 
(i) Disaggregation of revenue 

 30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
 $’000 $’000 
     
Subscription revenue 111,509 96,576 
Perpetual licence revenue1  1,557 - 
Royalty revenue 365  138  
TOTAL REVENUE  113,431  96,714  
    

Interest income 537 676 
Grant income -  10  
Gain on disposal of assets  -  113  
Gain on sale of unlisted investments 514 -  
TOTAL OTHER INCOME 1,051  799  
TOTAL REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME  114,482 97,513 
 

1 During the financial year ended 30 June 2021, the Group recognised revenue relating to the grant of a perpetual licence of $1,557 thousand. The contract 
was entered into by the Group and a customer as a “proof of concept” using 2019 vintage imagery only. The recurring nature of this type of revenue is 
dependent on the outcome of the “proof of concept”. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

B. KEY FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONT.) 
3. SEGMENT RESULTS, REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (CONT.) 

Revenue and other income (cont.) 
(i) Disaggregation of revenue (cont.) 
 30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
 $’000 $’000 
   
PRIMARY GEOGRAPHICAL MARKETS1   
Australia & New Zealand 65,883 60,223 
North America 47,548 36,491 
Unallocated 1,051 799 
TOTAL REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME  114,482 97,513 
     
SUBSCRIPTION & PERPETUAL LICENCE REVENUE BY INDUSTRY2   
Architecture, Construction & Engineering 26,947 26,539 
Commercial/Other 25,795 19,345 
Government  20,419 15,856 
Utilities 12,607 11,377 
Insurance & Property 15,385 15,525 
Solar 6,368 7,934 
Roofing2 5,545 - 
TOTAL SUBSCRIPTION & PERPETUAL LICENCE REVENUE  113,066 96,576 
 

1 The Group’s revenue by geography is based on customer billing address. 
2 During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group added roofing to its disaggregation of revenue by industry as it now monitors the revenue recognised from 
these customers separately from those of other industries. In the comparative period, roofing revenue was mainly included in the Architecture, Construction 
& Engineering and Solar industries. Comparatives have not been restated. 

(ii) Contract balances 
Under AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with customers (AASB 15), the value and timing of revenue recognition and customer invoicing 
results in the recognition of contract assets and contract liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial position. At the reporting date, 
the Group determines whether each customer contract results in a net contract asset or net contract liability. The balance of contract assets 
and contract liabilities disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position at the reporting date is impacted by the timing of new 
customer contracts and upsells throughout the financial year, the billing frequencies of active contracts, and how far through their term each 
contract is.      
Contract assets 
A contract asset is recognised when a conditional right to consideration exists and transfer of control has occurred. Contract assets primarily 
relate to multi-year subscription service contracts where the transaction price allocated to the satisfied performance obligations exceeds the 
value of billings to date. As at 30 June 2021, contract assets of $2,695 thousand are included in other current receivables on the consolidated 
statement of financial position. Contract assets will be transferred to trade receivables when the right becomes unconditional. 

Contract liabilities 
A contract liability is recognised when the value of billings to date exceeds the transaction price allocated to the satisfied performance 
obligations and are presented as unearned revenue on the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group primarily bills and collects 
payments from customers for services in advance on an annual basis, however, some customers are invoiced quarterly or bi-annually. The 
Group initially records subscriptions fees as unearned revenue and then recognises revenue as performance obligations are satisfied over 
the subscription period. The totality of the unearned revenue balance at 1 July 2020 has been recognised as revenue as at 30 June 2021.  

Significant movements in contract liabilities throughout the financial year are as follows: 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

B. KEY FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONT.) 
3. SEGMENT RESULTS, REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (CONT.) 

Revenue and other income (cont.) 
(ii) Contract balances (cont.) 
 30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
MOVEMENT IN CONTRACT LIABILITIES $’000 $’000 
   
BALANCE AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 47,454 42,034 
Invoices issued during the year 121,207 100,766 
Decrease due to revenue recognised in the year (110,271) (93,957) 
Foreign exchange adjustment (1,608) 733 
Reclassification of contract assets to unearned revenue1 - (2,122) 
BALANCE AT THE END OF THE YEAR  56,782 47,454 
Included in the consolidated statement of financial position as:   
Current unearned revenue 55,837 47,454 
Non-current unearned revenue 945 - 
TOTAL UNEARNED REVENUE 56,782 47,454 
 
1 In the prior year, contract assets of $3,927 thousand were presented within trade receivables. In the current year, contract assets are presented either within 
other current receivables (when the contract is in a net asset position), or within unearned revenue (when the contract is in a net liability position) to better 
reflect their nature. Comparative figures have been adjusted accordingly, and as such, contract assets of $2,122 have been presented within unearned 
revenue in the comparative period. This reclassification has had no impact on the Group’s consolidated net working capital, consolidated net assets, or 
consolidated net loss. 

(iii) Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations 
Total transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied as at the end of the financial year is 
referred to as revenue backlog. Revenue backlog consists of unearned revenue, as reported in the consolidated statement of financial 
position (billed backlog), and unbilled customer commitments (unbilled backlog). Unbilled backlog is an operational measure representing 
future unearned revenue amounts that are to be invoiced under existing multi-year agreements and that are not included in the unearned 
revenue on the consolidated statement of financial position. 

As at 30 June 2021, total backlog was $115,716 thousand (30 June 2020: $107,397 thousand), expected to be recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit of loss in the following financial years: 

 30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
 $’000 $’000 
 

  
Year ended 30 June 2022 79,938 69,317 
Year ended 30 June 2023 25,896 24,264 
Year ended 30 June 2024 and thereafter 9,882 13,816 
TOTAL REVENUE BACKLOG  115,716 107,397 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

B. KEY FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONT.) 

 EXPENSES 

Other operational expenses 
  30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 

  $’000 $’000 
    
Servicing, processing and storage costs  6,299 6,617 
Marketing costs  4,517 5,322 
Travel costs  292 3,577 
Subscription fees  5,171 4,921 
Audit, consulting and legal fees  8,235 3,956 
Office and other rental costs  2,009 1,942 
Insurance costs  1,978 1,069 
All other operating expenses1  2,506 3,820 
TOTAL OTHER OPERATIONAL EXPENSES  31,007 31,224 
 

1 Includes $930 thousand of research costs (30 June 2020: $1,472 thousand). 

Employee benefits expense 

 30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
 $’000 $’000 
 

  
Salaries, wages, and other employee expense1 49,982 49,789 
Net share-based payment expense2 5,818 4,062 
Defined contribution plan expense 2,829 2,691 
TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE  58,629 56,542 
 

1 The Group amended its sales incentive program during the year ended 30 June 2021. As a result, effective 1 January 2021, the Group capitalises incremental 
costs of obtaining customer contracts unless the amortisation period of the asset that would have otherwise been recognised is one year or less. The effect 
of this change was a reduction in employee benefits expense of $6,059 thousand for the financial year ended 30 June 2021. Refer to note 12 for further 
information on the capitalisation of incremental costs of acquiring a customer contract.  
2 The Group capitalises a portion of its share-based payment cost in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment. Refer to note 5 for the reconciliation 
of the total cost incurred by the Group with the amount recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

B. KEY FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONT.) 
5. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLANS 

ACCOUNTING POLICY - RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT OF SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

The Group operates various equity-settled share-based payment plans, providing share options and restricted stock units (RSUs) to 
employees in exchange for service rendered, as outlined further in this note. 
The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based payment arrangements granted to employees is recognised as an expense, with 
a corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting period of the awards, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become 
fully entitled to the award. 
The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service are expected to be met, 
such that the amount ultimately recognised is based on the number of awards that meet the related service conditions. For awards 
subject to a service condition, no expense is recognised if they do not ultimately vest due to non-satisfaction of the service condition. The 
expense or income for the year represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised at the beginning and end of that year. For 
share-based payments awards with market performance conditions, the grant date fair value of the share-based payment is measured 
to reflect such condition. If the award does not ultimately vest due to the non-satisfaction of the market performance condition, there is 
no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes. 
If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation. However, if a new award is substituted 
for the cancelled award and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated 
as if they were a modification of the original award. The granting of limited recourse loans (LRL) is considered to be a modification to the 
existing options. Any increase in the fair value of the option is recognised as an expense immediately at the date the limited recourse loan 
is granted. The LRLs are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements. 
The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding equity-settled share-based payment instruments is reflected as additional share dilution in the 
computation of earnings per share. 

KEY ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

The Group estimates the fair value of equity-settled share-based payments at the date at which they are granted. The fair values of 
options granted include assumptions in the following areas: risk free rate, volatility, expected life and expected achievement of TSR 
performance hurdles, if applicable. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends 
and may not reflect the actual outcome. The expected life of the options is based on historical data, which may also not necessarily reflect 
future exercise patterns. 

 
At 30 June 2021, the Group had the following share-based payment arrangements. 

Employee Share Option Plan  
An Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) has been established whereby Directors and certain employees of the Group may be issued with 
options over the ordinary shares of the Company. The options, which are usually issued for nil consideration at an exercise price calculated 
with reference to prevailing market prices as at the date of grant, are issued in accordance with terms established by the Directors of the 
Company. The options cannot be transferred without the approval of the Company’s Board and are not quoted on the ASX.

The grants are issued with a life of 4 years with either: 

 with Total Shareholder Return (TSR) growth performance vesting conditions, exercisable after three years (annual grant); or 
 without any performance vesting conditions, usually exercisable in two or three equal annual tranches when vested (new hire grant).  

All options are settled by issuing ordinary shares. The Nearmap ESOP also includes an Employee Loan Scheme that permits the Company to 
grant financial assistance to employees by way of limited recourse loans (LRLs) to enable them to exercise options granted prior to 30 June 
2017 and acquire shares. The employee does not have a beneficial interest in the shares until the loan is repaid with any such shares being 
held in escrow until that time. The last LRL grant occurred during the financial year ended 30 June 2020. No additional LRLs are expected to 
be granted after that date. The Group recorded a net expense of $2,064 thousand in the year ended 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: $1,882 
thousand) in relation to the ESOP. In addition, $24 thousand has been capitalised in the cost of intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment during the year ended 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: $62 thousand). 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

B. KEY FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONT.) 
5.  SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLANS (CONT.) 

Employee Matching Share Rights Plan  
Employees have the opportunity to purchase shares in the Company using up to 5% of their annual base salary. For every three acquired 
shares, the employee will be awarded a right to receive one additional share of the Company under the conditions outlined in the Employee 
Matching Share Rights Plan. The matching rights are purchased on market by the Group throughout the contribution period, and 
subsequently reissued to employees once the rights vest. The Company does not issue new shares under the Employee Matching Share 
Rights Plan. The Group recorded a net expense of $142 thousand in the year ended 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: $198 thousand) in relation 
to the Employee Matching Share Rights Plan. In addition, $72 thousand has been capitalised in the cost of intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment during the year ended 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: $81 thousand). 

Long Term Incentive Plan 
Pursuant to the Nearmap employee Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP), certain key senior employees are granted either options issued with a 
life of 4 years or Restricted Share Units (RSUs) representing between 10% and 30% of the employee’s base remuneration. The rights vest in 
9 tranches over three years from the date of the initial grant, subject to ongoing employment. All vested rights under the LTIP are settled by 
issuing ordinary shares. Additionally, during the year ended 30 June 2020 a one-off grant was made to all non-key management personnel 
employees to compensate for the 20% salary reduction implemented as a result of COVID-19 during the period of 1 May 2020 until 31 
October 2020 (salary compensation grant). The compensation grants vested on 31 October 2020 subject to the employee being employed 
at that date. The Group recorded a net expense of $3,612 thousand in the year ended 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: $1,982 thousand) in 
relation to the LTIP, of which $1,723 thousand relates to the salary compensation grant (30 June 2020: $834 thousand). In addition, $1,074 
thousand has been capitalised in the cost of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment during the year ended 30 June 2021 (30 
June 2020: $1,159 thousand). 

 
30 JUNE 

2021 

WEIGHTED-  
AVERAGE  

EXERCISE PRICE 
30 JUNE 

2020 

WEIGHTED- 
AVERAGE 

EXERCISE PRICE MOVEMENT IN SHARE OPTIONS AND LOANS 
     
NUMBER OF OPTIONS OUTSTANDING  
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 16,979,545 $1.53 16,337,184 $0.84  

Options lapsed/forfeited  (2,358,398) $2.04 (1,371,303) $1.58 
Options exercised – loans granted  -    -  (1,958,346) $0.90  
Options exercised – cash payment  (4,786,760) $0.61  (3,085,333) $0.51  
Options granted  3,637,890  $2.42  7,057,343 $2.37  
NUMBER OF OPTIONS OUTSTANDING  
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 13,472,277 $2.00  16,979,545 $1.53  

VESTED & EXERCISABLE 3,068,632 $1.34 2,348,011 $0.57 
 

As at 30 June 2021, there were 13,472,277 options outstanding (30 June 2020: 16,979,545) at exercise prices ranging from $0.71 to $2.97 
(30 June 2020: $0.39 to $2.97) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.08 years (30 June 2020: 2.40 years). 

The fair values of the options granted under the LTIP and ESOP were determined using the Black-Scholes model, or the Monte Carlo model 
for TSR vesting performance grants. The following table presents the weighted average assumptions used to determine the fair values of 
options granted: 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

B. KEY FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONT.) 
5. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLANS (CONT.) 

 ANNUAL ESOP GRANT – MONTE CARLO   NEW HIRE ESOP GRANT – BLACK-SCHOLES 
 30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020  30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
      
Dividend yield (%) 0.00 0.00  N/A 0.00 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.19 0.85  N/A 0.67 
Expected life (years) 4.00 4.00  N/A 3.00 
Expected volatility for the share  
price (%) 65.25 52.18  N/A 56.66 

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE FAIR VALUES ($) 0.92 0.78  N/A 0.74 
 

 LTIP OPTIONS GRANT – BLACK-SCHOLES 
 30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
   

Dividend yield (%) 0.00 0.00 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.35 0.75 
Expected life (years) 2.66 2.66 
Expected volatility for the share price (%) 65.84 53.13 
WEIGHTED-AVERAGE FAIR VALUES ($) 0.92 0.88 

 
The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company’s share price. The risk-free interest rate used is equal to the yield 
on Australian Government Bonds at the date of grant with a term equal to the expected life of options. 

The grant of LRLs for the settlement of share options is considered as a modification to the valuation of the options. Any increase in the fair 
value of the modified option is recognised as expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. No LRLs were granted during the year 
ended 30 June 2021, resulting in an incremental expense of nil relating to KMPs and nil for other employees over that period (30 June 2020: 
$60 thousand and $25 thousand respectively). 

MOVEMENT IN RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS (RSUs) 
30 JUNE 

2021 

WEIGHTED- 
AVERAGE  

FAIR VALUE 
30 JUNE  

2020 

WEIGHTED-
AVERAGE FAIR 

VALUE 
     
NUMBER OF RSUs OUTSTANDING  
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 929,972 $2.56 - - 

RSUs lapsed/forfeited (176,068) $2.36  (209,565) $2.58  
RSUs vested and converted (1,895,996) $2.51 - - 
RSUs granted 2,271,997 $2.39 1,139,537 $2.57 
NUMBER OF RSUs OUTSTANDING  
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 1,129,905 $2.34 929,972 $2.56 

 
The fair value of RSUs on measurement date is based on the closing market price on the day preceding the grant.   
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

B. KEY FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONT.) 
 NET FINANCE COSTS 

  30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
  $’000 $’000 
    
Interest expense on unwinding of lease liabilities  490 596 
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain)  1,654 (529) 
Other finance costs  45 85 
NET FINANCE COSTS  2,189 152 
 

 INCOME TAX 

ACCOUNTING POLICY - RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT OF INCOME TAX 
Income tax 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or OCI. 
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss of the year and any adjustment to the tax 
payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount 
expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for: 

 Temporary difference on the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; 

 Temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements to the extent that the Group is 
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that they will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future; and 

 Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax 
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which they can be utilised. Future taxable profits are 
determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary difference is insufficient 
to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, the future taxable profits, adjusted for reversal of existing temporary differences, are considered, 
based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the 
probability of the future taxable profits improves. 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that is has become probable that 
future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised 
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
Uncertainty over income tax treatments 
In situations where the Group determines that uncertainty exists over an income tax treatment, the Group assesses whether it is probable 
that the taxation authority will accept the uncertain income tax treatment. Where that outcome is not probable, the Group reflects this 
uncertainty in the determination of its taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits or the tax rates used, using 
either the most likely amount approach or the expected value approach. 
Research and Development tax incentive 
The Group accounts for any non-refundable research and development tax credits as an income tax benefit, which are recognised when 
there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions that are attached to the incentive and that it will be received. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

B. KEY FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONT.) 
7. INCOME TAX (CONT.) 

ACCOUNTING POLICY - RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT OF INCOME TAX (CONT.) 
Tax consolidation 
The Company and its wholly owned Australian controlled entities have formed an income tax consolidated group under the tax 
consolidation regime. The head entity, Nearmap Ltd, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated Group account for their own 
current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated Group continues to be a 
standalone taxpayer in its own right. In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the Company also recognises the current 
tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities 
in the tax consolidated Group. 

KEY ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

Deferred tax 
Where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which carried forward tax losses can be utilised, a deferred tax asset 
is recognised for these amounts, subject to shareholder continuity and other requirements. No material deferred asset has been 
recognised for losses in Australia and the United States, given the uncertainty of the timing of future profitability.  

In applying the expected value approach to the quantification of unused tax losses, the Group determines the likelihood of a variety of 
possible scenarios. The likelihood of each scenario is based on management’s best estimate, and may differ from the final outcome. 

 
(i) Income tax expense 

 30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
 $’000 $’000    
   
Current tax benefit/(expense) 779  (953)  
Deferred tax benefit 2,856  1,339  
TOTAL INCOME TAX BENEFIT  3,635  386  
    

NUMERICAL RECONCILIATION OF INCOME TAX BENEFIT TO PRIMA FACIE TAX PAYABLE   
Loss before income tax (22,455) (37,103) 
Tax at the Australia tax rate of 30% (30 June 2020: 30%) 6,736  11,131  
     
Adjusted for:   
Effect of lower tax rate in the US 228  (2,414)  
Share-based payments expense (2,023)  (1,609)  
Entertainment expenses (22)  (115)  
Recognition of previously unrecognised deductible temporary differences (81)  -  
Current year losses and unused R&D tax credits for which no deferred tax asset is recognised (4,611)  (7,202)  
Over provision in the prior year 1,295  595  
Utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised 2,113 - 
TOTAL TAX BENEFIT  3,635  386  

 
The Group has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of $11,908 thousand in respect of US tax losses, $4,259 thousand in respect of Australian 
tax losses, and $352 thousand in respect of unused Australian R&D tax credits. The unrecognised tax losses in the US have expiry dates 
ranging from 2035 to 2040. 

 
(ii) Deferred income tax 
The movement in deferred tax balances and the Group’s net deferred tax balance is outlined below. The net deferred tax asset balance 
relates to US entities and the net deferred tax liability balance relates to Australian entities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

B. KEY FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONT.) 
7. INCOME TAX (CONT.) 

(ii) Deferred income tax (cont.) 

 BALANCE AT 
 1 JULY  

RECOGNISED  
IN PROFIT OR LOSS 

RECOGNISED 
DIRECTLY IN EQUITY 

BALANCE  
AT 30 JUNE 

NET DEFERRED 
TAX ASSETS 

NET DEFERRED 
TAX LIABILITIES 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
       
Unearned revenue 3,413 2,257 (299) 5,371 5,371 - 
Provisions and other accruals 1,881 1,401 (56) 3,226 841 2,385 
Property, plant and equipment  795 287 (22) 1,060 519 541 
Intangible assets (12,460) (700) (1) (13,161) (964) (12,197) 
Derivative instruments 287 - (295) (8) - (8) 
Unrealised foreign exchange loss (128) 24 - (104) - (104) 
Other 809 (413) 747 1,143 - 1,143 
NET TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)  (5,403) 2,856 74 (2,473) 5,767 (8,240) 
       

 
BALANCE AT 

1 JULY  
RECOGNISED  

IN PROFIT OR LOSS 
RECOGNISED 

DIRECTLY IN EQUITY 
BALANCE  

AT 30 JUNE 
NET DEFERRED 

TAX ASSETS 
NET DEFERRED 
TAX LIABILITIES 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
       
Unearned revenue 2,682  667 64 3,413 3,413 - 
Provisions and other accruals 1,546  327 8 1,881 647 1,234 
Plant and equipment  (111) 762 144 795 253 542 
Intangible assets (12,088) (372) - (12,460) - (12,460) 
Other 837  144 (172) 809 - 809 
Derivative instruments (31) - 318 287 - 287 
Unrealised foreign exchange loss 61  (189) - (128) - (128) 
NET TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)  (7,104) 1,339 362 (5,403) 4,313 (9,716) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

C. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

IN THIS SECTION 

This section outlines how the Group manages its capital structure and discusses the Group’s exposure to various financial risks and how 
the Group manages these risks. 

Capital Risk Management 
The Group’s objective in managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so it can continue to commercialise 
intellectual property with the ultimate objective of providing returns to shareholders whilst maintaining an optimal capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure the Group may issue new shares, sell assets, consider joint 
ventures and may return capital in some form to shareholders. 

 

 CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

ACCOUNTING POLICY - RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT OF CONTRIBUTED EQUITY AND RESERVES 

Shares issued are classified as contributed equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 
deducted from the fair value of contributed equity issued, net of tax. Details in relation to share based payment plans, including share 
options, are contained in note 5. When shares recognised as contributed equity are repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, 
which includes directly attributable costs, is recognised as a deduction from contributed equity as treasury shares. When treasury shares 
are reissued subsequently as part of the Employee Matching Share Rights Plan, the amount of the consideration paid upon repurchase is 
recognised as an increase in contributed equity. Any surplus of deficit between the consideration paid and the amount recognised in the 
share-based payments reserve upon vesting of the rights is presented in accumulated losses. 

Reserves include: 

 Share-based payments reserve: comprises the cumulative expense relating to the fair value of options, RSUs, and rights on issue to 
key management personnel, senior executives and employees of the Group. 

 Profit reserve: comprises profits appropriated by the parent company of the Group. 
 Other reserves: includes the foreign currency translation reserve representing foreign currency translation differences arising on 

the translation of financial statements of the Group’s foreign entities into the Group presentation currency (as described in note 
2), and the cash flow hedge reserve representing the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow 
hedging instruments related to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred that are recognised in other comprehensive income 
(as described in note 9) 

 
Contributed equity 
The contributed equity of the Company consists only of fully paid ordinary shares. Holders of theses ordinary shares are entitled to receive 
dividends as declared from time to time, are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of the Company, and in the event of winding 
up of the Company, to participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on 
the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 

Treasury shares 
Treasury shares are shares in the Company that are held by the Employee Matching Share Rights Plan Trust (the Trust) for the purpose of 
issuing shares under the Employee Matching Share Rights Plan. All rights attached to the Company’s shares held by the Trust are suspended 
until those shares are reissued. As at 30 June 2021, the Trust held 40,243 of the Company’s shares (30 June 2020: 135,222). F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

C. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT.) 
8. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONT.) 

MOVEMENT IN SHARES ON ISSUE NUMBER OF SHARES $'000 
   
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021   
BALANCE AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 453,324,295 126,577 
Issue of shares during the year, net of transaction costs1 36,079,427 93,475 
Issued from exercise of share options 4,786,760 2,908 
Repayment of share option loans2 - 1,078 
Issue of shares on settlement of restricted-stock units 1,895,996  - 
Treasury shares vested and transferred to employees - 154 
BALANCE AT THE END OF THE YEAR 496,086,478 224,192    
   
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020   
BALANCE AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 448,280,616  124,617  
Issued from exercise of share options 3,085,333 1,596 
Issued from exercise of share option loans 1,958,346 - 
Repayment of share option loans2 - 396 
Treasury shares acquired - (400) 
Treasury shares vested and transferred to employees - 368 
BALANCE AT THE END OF THE YEAR 453,324,295 126,577 
   
1 On 11 September 2020, the Company completed a $72,082 thousand fully underwritten institutional placement (before costs) of 26,022,305 new fully paid 
ordinary shares at the offer price of $2.77. Following the underwritten institutional placement, on 8 October 2020, the Company completed a $23,135 
thousand Share Purchase Plan available to all investors whereby a total of 10,057,122 new fully paid ordinary shares were issued at the offer price of $2.30. 
The Company incurred a total of $2,489 thousand in transactions costs, net of $747 thousand in deferred tax impact, that were recorded directly in contributed 
equity. 
2 During the year, total loans of $1,053 thousand (30 June 2020: $391 thousand) and accruing interest of $25 thousand (30 June 2020: $5 thousand) were 
repaid to the Company, thereby releasing 1,725,034 shares (30 June 2020: 631,686) previously under holding lock. 
 

 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

ACCOUNTING POLICY - RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Recognition and initial measurement  
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial 
instrument. Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs, unless they are classified as fair value 
through profit or loss in which case transaction costs are expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss immediately. 

Cash and cash equivalent in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and on hand, deposits on call and 
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less. Term deposits with a term of more than 3 months at inception are presented 
as other current or non-current receivables. Cash at bank and deposits on call earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit 
rates. Term deposits earn interest at a fixed rate, set at inception, over their term. Interest earned is recognised in other income in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements for details on the cash and cash 
equivalent balance. The Group had no financing facilities as at 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: nil).  

Classification and subsequent measurement 
On initial recognition, a financial instrument is classified and measured at: 

 Amortised cost; 
 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI – Financial asset only); or 
 Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

The Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities, which comprise cash and cash equivalent, trade receivables, other current receivables, 
other non-current receivables, trade and other payables, other current liabilities, and derivative financial instruments, are all classified 
and measured at amortised cost on initial recognition, except the derivative financial instruments (derivatives) which are classified and 
measured at FVTPL.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

C. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT.) 
9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.) 

ACCOUNTING POLICY - RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.) 

Classification and subsequent measurement (cont.) 
Financial instruments classified and measured at amortised cost on initial recognition are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains, and 
losses and impairment are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
Financial instruments classified and measured at FVTPL on initial recognition are subsequently measured at fair value. The derivatives 
entered into by the Group are used to hedge the variability in cash flows associated with highly probable forecast transaction arising from 
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group designates these derivatives as cash flow hedging instruments and applies hedge 
accounting. The effective portion of changes in fair value of the derivatives is recognised in OCI and accumulated in the hedging reserve. 
Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivatives is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss. The amount accumulated in the hedging reserve is reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the same period or 
periods during which the hedged expected future cash flow affects the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business model for managing 
financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change 
in the business model. 
Impairment of financial assets 
Impairment is measured using a 12-month expected credit loss method (ECL) unless the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased 
significantly since initial recognition in which case the lifetime ECL method is adopted. For receivables, a simplified approach to measuring 
ECL using a lifetime expected loss allowance is available and is used by the Group. 
Derecognition of financial instruments 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or when the financial asset 
and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is discharged, cancelled or expires. On 
derecognition of financial liabilities, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
Offsetting 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial position when, 
and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net 
basis or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

ACCOUNTING POLICY – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

“Fair value” is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at 
that date. When one is available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that 
instrument. A market is regarded as “active” if transaction for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to 
provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. If there is no quoted price in an active market, the Group uses valuation techniques that 
maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique 
incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.  
The fair value of assets and liabilities is categorised into different levels of the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation 
techniques as follows: 

 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can assess at the measurement 
date; 

 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) 
or indirectly (derived from prices); and 

 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).  
The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period which the transfer has 
occurred.   
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

C. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT.) 
9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.) 

KEY ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

Impairment of financial assets 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. There is no single customer 
making up a material percentage of the Group’s revenue. The Group continuously monitors defaults of customers and other 
counterparties, identified either individually or by group, and incorporates this information into its credit risk controls. As at 30 June 2021, 
COVID-19 hasn’t had a significant impact on the recoverability of the Group’s balances receivable. The Group uses an allowance matrix 
to measure the ECL of trade receivables. Loss rates are calculated using a “roll rate” method based on the probability of a receivable 
progressing through successive stages of delinquency to write-off. Roll rates are calculated based on the age of the receivable at the end 
of the financial year. The Group also recognises specific allowances for known credit risk of some individual customer accounts. There 
was no impairment of contract assets during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: nil). The allowance for expected credit 
losses assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement and may not reflect actual write-off in future periods. 

 
(i) Carrying amounts and fair values 
The fair value and carrying value of derivatives as at 30 June 2021 is $28 thousand and is included in prepayments and other current assets 
(30 June 2020: $957 thousand included in other current liabilities). The net unrealised gain of $28 thousand on changes in fair value of the 
derivatives during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 has been recognised in OCI (30 June 2020: $957 thousand loss recognised in OCI). 
Derivatives are not quoted in active markets as they are not traded on a recognised exchange. Therefore, the Group uses valuation 
techniques (present value techniques) which use both observable and unobservable market inputs.  

As these financial instruments use valuation techniques with unobservable inputs that are not significant to the overall valuation, these 
instruments are included in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. There were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the 
years ended 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020. 

The carrying value, less impairment provision if any, of trade receivables, other current receivables, derivatives, other non-current 
receivables, trade and other payables, and other current liabilities are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-term 
nature. 

(ii) Financial risk management 
Risk management framework 
The Company’s board of Directors have an overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management 
framework. The board of Directors have established the Audit and Risk Management Committee which is responsible for developing and 
monitoring the Group’s risk management policies. 

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and 
controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in the market and 
the Group’s activities. 

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices – such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates – will affect the Group’s income or 
the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Group uses derivatives to manage market risk related to foreign currencies. All such 
transactions are carried out within the guidelines of the Group’s risk management policies. 

 

Nature of risk 
The Company’s functional currency is the Australian dollar (AUD). The Group does not have a material foreign currency risk on cash receipts 
denominated in United States dollar (USD) as these are used by the Group to cover part of its payments denominated in USD. The portion 
of the Group’s payments denominated in USD that are not covered by cash receipts in the same currency (shortfall) expose the Group to 
foreign currency risk. The Group’s policy is to hedge 85% to 125% of its estimated shortfall in respect of forecast purchases over the following 
12 months, at any point in time. The Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its currency risk, with the forward exchange contracts 
maturing on the same dates that the forecast payments are expected to occur. All foreign exchange contracts at 30 June 2021 have a 
maturity of less than twelve months from the reporting date. These contracts are designated as cash flow hedges. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

C. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT.) 
9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.) 

(ii) Financial risk management (cont.) 
Market risk (cont.) 

 

Nature of risk (cont.) 
In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the Group’s policy is to ensure the net exposure is kept 
to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates when necessary. 

Exposure to foreign currency risk 
The summary quantitative data about the Group’s significant exposure to foreign currency risk is as follows: 

 30 JUNE 2021 
 USD $’000 

30 JUNE 2020 
 USD $’000 

   
   
Cash and cash equivalent 1,926 1,499 
Receivables and other assets 238 6,909 
Payables and other liabilities 1,477 2,650 
GROSS EXPOSURE 3,641 11,058 
 
The following significant exchange rates have been applied. 

 AVERAGE RATE YEAR-END SPOT RATE 
 30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
     

USD 0.7473 0.6712 0.7518 0.6863 
 
Sensitivity analysis 
A reasonably possible strengthening or weakening of the Australian dollar against the US dollar would have affected the measurement of 
financial instruments denominated in US dollars and affected equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes 
that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant and ignores any impact of forecast sales and purchases: 

  PROFIT OR LOSS EQUITY, NET OF TAX 
 STRENGTHENING WEAKENING STRENGTHENING WEAKENING 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
30 JUNE 2021     
USD (10% movement) (440) 538 (3) 4 
     
30 JUNE 2020     
USD (10% movement) 6 (8) 127 (155) 

 
Cash flow hedges 
All derivates entered into by the Group are foreign exchange contracts. The settlement amounts and average contractual exchange rates of 
foreign exchange contracts were as follows: F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

C. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT.) 
9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.) 

(ii) Financial risk management (cont.) 
Market risk (cont.) 
(a)  Currency risk (cont.) 
Cash flow hedges (cont.) 
 BUY UNITED STATES DOLLARS AVERAGE EXCHANGE RATES DERIVATIVE ASSET/(LIABILITY) 

 30 JUNE 2021 
$’000 

30 JUNE 2020 
$’000 

30 JUNE 2021 
$’000 

30 JUNE 2020 
$’000 

30 JUNE 2021 
$’000 

30 JUNE 2020 
$’000 

       
MATURITY       
0-3 months 900 3,800 0.7619 0.6196 15 (602) 
3-6 months 900 1,800 0.7608 0.6038 13 (355) 
TOTAL DERIVATIVE     28 (957) 
 

 

The Group is exposed to changes in interest rates as it relates to the Group’s cash at bank and short-term deposits. The Group monitors 
changes in interest rates regularly to ensure the best possible return on deposits. Changes to interest rates in this context are not considered 
a significant financial risk. The average interest rate received on deposits during the year was 0.46% (30 June 2020: 1.61%). 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations and arises principally from the Group’s cash and cash equivalent, trade receivables, other current receivables, other non-current 
receivables and amounts receivable from forward exchange contracts. The Group trades primarily with recognised, creditworthy third 
parties. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date in relation to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of 
any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

 

The Group manages credit risk by placing cash and cash equivalent, term deposits and forward exchange contracts with high quality financial 
institutions. High quality financial institutions are those which are rated least BBB (as rated by Standard & Poors). 

 

The Group has adopted a lifetime ECL allowance in estimating expected credit losses to trade receivables through the use of a provisions 
matrix using fixed rates of credit loss provisioning. These provisions are considered representative across all customers of the Group based 
on recent sales experience, historical collection rates and forward-looking information that is available. Generally, trade receivables are 
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators of this include the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment 
plan, no active enforcement activity and a failure to make contractual payments for a period greater than 6 months. The ageing of trade 
receivables and movement in the allowance for ECL are presented below. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

C. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT.) 
9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.) 

(ii) Financial risk management (cont.) 
Credit risk (cont.) 

 

CARRYING AMOUNT 
30 JUNE 2021 

$’000 
30 JUNE 2020 

$’000 
   
Current 21,056 15,104 
1 to 30 days overdue 1,989 3,065 
31 to 60 days overdue 340 998 
61 to 90 days overdue 513 410 
Over 90 days overdue 452 1,184 
Impairment provision (495) (982) 
TOTAL TRADE RECEIVABLES1 23,855 19,779 
 
1 In the prior year, contract assets of $3,927 thousand were presented within trade receivables. In the current year, contract assets are presented either within 
other current receivables (when the contract is in a net asset position), or within unearned revenue (when the contract is in a net liability position) to better 
reflect their nature. Comparative figures have been adjusted accordingly. This reclassification has had no impact on the Group’s consolidated net working 
capital, consolidated net assets, or consolidated net loss. 

MOVEMENT IN IMPAIRMENT PROVISION 
30 JUNE 2021 

$’000 
30 JUNE 2020 

$’000 
   
BALANCE AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 982 240 
Provision used during the year (664) (488) 
Additional provision recognised  225 1,249 
Foreign exchange adjustment (48) (19) 
BALANCE AT THE END OF THE YEAR 495 982 
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled 
by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group continually monitors forecast and actual cash flows and the maturity profiles of 
assets and liabilities. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining cash reserves and liquid assets in excess of expected cash outflows. 

As at 30 June 2021, all financial liabilities have a remaining contractual maturity of less than 1 year. Contractual cash outflows relating to 
lease liabilities are presented in note 10. 
 

 LEASES  

ACCOUNTING POLICY - RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT OF LEASES 

Definition of a lease 
The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition of a lease included in AASB 16 Leases (AASB 16). Under 
AASB 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration. 
 
Recognition and initial measurement  
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date, being the date that the underlying asset is 
available for use. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost. The cost of the right-of-use asset includes the amount of recognised 
lease liabilities, initial direct costs inherent to the lease, and the expected costs to make good the leased asset, less any incentive received. 
The Group presents right-of-use assets in property, plant, and equipment, the same line items as it presents underlying assets of the same 
nature that it owns. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

C. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT.) 
10. LEASES (CONT.) 

ACCOUNTING POLICY - RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT OF LEASES (CONT.) 

Recognition and initial measurement (cont.) 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted 
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, 
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in substance fixed 
payments) and variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate. Variable payments that do not depend on an index or rate are 
recognised as an expense in profit or loss as they are incurred.  

Subsequent measurement 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjustment for 
certain remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. The lease liabilities are increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and decreased by lease payments made. It is remeasured 
when there is a change in future payments arising from a change in an index or rate, a change in the estimate of the amount expected to be 
payable under a residual value guarantee, or as appropriate, changes in the assessment of whether a purchase or extension option is 
reasonably certain to be exercised or a termination option is reasonably certain not to be exercised.  

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. The Group 
recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 

KEY ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

Lease term 
The Group has applied judgement to determine the lease term for some lease contracts that include renewal options. The assessment of 
whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise such options impacts the lease term, which significantly affects the amount of lease 
liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised. 
 

MOVEMENT IN LEASE LIABILITIES 
30 JUNE 2021 

$’000 
30 JUNE 2020 

$’000 
   
BALANCE AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 14,396 7,760 
Additions (new lease arrangements) - 9,876 
Interest expense on unwinding of lease liabilities 490 596 
Payments (4,658) (3,921) 
Foreign exchange adjustments (402) 85 
BALANCE AT THE END OF THE YEAR 9,826 14,396 
Current lease liabilities 4,681 4,500 
Non-current lease liabilities 5,145 9,896 
TOTAL LEASE LIABILTIES 9,826 14,396 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

C. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT.) 
10. LEASES (CONT.) 

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities, based on contractual undiscounted cash flows, is presented below: 

MATURITY ANALYSIS 
30 JUNE 2021 

$’000 
30 JUNE 2020 

$’000 
   
Less than one year 4,772 4,765 
One to five years 5,545 10,647 
TOTAL UNDISCOUNTED LEASE LIABILITY 10,317 15,412 
 

 DIVIDENDS PAID ON ORDINARY SHARES 

No dividends were paid or proposed for the year ending 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: nil). The Group has a franking credit balance of $1,390 
thousand as at 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: $1,390 thousand).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

D. INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

IN THIS SECTION 

This section outlines the Group’s investment in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment.  

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

ACCOUNTING POLICY – RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT OF INTANGIBLES 

Research and development costs 
Research and development costs consist primarily of employee benefits (including on-costs and share-based payments). Expenditure on 
research activities is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred. Development expenditure is capitalised only if 
the expenditure can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are 
probable, and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. Otherwise, it is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, development expenditure is 
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
Capture costs 
Capture costs comprise the cost of aerial surveys, third party processing costs, and employee benefit costs directly attributable and 
necessary to create and upload digital imagery online. Subsequent to initial recognition, capture costs are measured at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment loss. 
Contract acquisition costs 
The Group amended its sales incentive program during the year ended 30 June 2021. As a result, effective 1 January 2021 and in 
accordance with AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, the Group now capitalises incremental costs of obtaining customer 
contracts unless the amortisation period of the asset that would have otherwise been recognised is one year or less. When the 
amortisation period of the asset that would have otherwise been recognised is one year or less, the Group recognises the costs incurred 
as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Capitalised costs comprise sales commissions and associated on-costs that 
are incremental to obtaining new revenue contracts and are amortised on the expected duration of the contract with the customer. The 
effect of this change was a reduction in employee benefits expense of $6,059 thousand, and an increase in amortisation expense of $500 
thousand for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.  
Other intangibles 
Other intangible assets include mainly intellectual property and patents that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives. These 
intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.  
Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it 
relates. All other expenditure is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred. 
Amortisation 
Amortisation is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the 
intangible asset, from the date it is available for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

 Capitalised capture costs: 2 years 
 Contract acquisition costs: 3 years 
 Development costs: 3-5 years 
 Intellectual property: 5 years 
 Patent, domains and trademark costs: 5-20 years 

The amortisation period and method for intangible assets is reviewed at least annually to determine if they remain appropriate. Where 
there is an expectation that the amortisation period or method does not match the consumption of the economic benefits embedded 
within the asset, the useful life of the asset will be adjusted to reflect this change. 
Impairment 
The Group assesses at each reporting period whether there is an indication that an asset (other than goodwill or intangibles with indefinite 
useful life) may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes 
an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

D. INVESTING ACTIVITIES (CONT.) 
12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT.) 

ACCOUNTING POLICY – RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT OF INTANGIBLES (CONT.) 

Impairment (cont.) 
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less cost of disposal (FVLCD) and its value in use (ViU), and is determined for 
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of 
assets. In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as part of the cash generating unit (CGU) to which it belongs. When the carrying 
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or CGU is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount. 
An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses 
may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in estimate used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. 
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of amortisation, had no impairment 
loss been recognised in the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Intangible assets 
are tested for impairment where an indicator of impairment exists. Intangibles under development are tested at the cash-generating unit 
level for impairment annually or at each reporting period where an indicator of impairment exists.  
Derecognition 
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the disposal proceeds received 
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 

KEY ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

Capture costs 
Pursuant to AASB 138 Intangible Assets, the Group has assessed its best estimate of the probability that the expected future economic 
benefits attributable to the Group’s digital imagery will flow to the entity. As a result, capture costs directly attributable and necessary to 
create and upload digital imagery online have been recognised as an intangible asset. During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group 
reviewed the appropriateness of the amortisation period and methodology for capture costs and determined that straight-line 
amortisation and a 2-year useful life remain appropriate based on up-to-date customer map tile requests. 

Contract acquisition costs 
Capitalised costs related to the acquisition of new revenue contracts are amortised on a straight-line basis over 3 years, reflecting the 
estimated average duration of contract and period of benefit across the Group, including expected contract renewals. The average period 
of benefit was derived through consideration of quantitative factors including the historical duration of customer relationships and upsell 
trend analysis. 

Development costs 
Management has made judgements in assessing when internal projects enter the development phase, namely around determining the 
commercial feasibility and assessing the probability of future economic benefits relating to that project. During the year ended 30 June 
2021, the Group reviewed the appropriateness of the amortisation period and methodology for development costs and determined that 
straight-line amortisation and a 3 to 5-year useful life remain appropriate. 

Impairment of assets 
The Group assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluation of conditions specific to the Group that may lead to impairment of 
assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. ViU and FVLCD calculations performed in 
assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number of key estimates, including forecasting of profits, cash flows, and discount rates. 
These estimates require significant management judgement and are subject to risk and uncertainty that may be beyond the control of 
the Group; hence there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will materially alter projections, which may impact the recoverable 
amount of assets at each reporting date. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

D. INVESTING ACTIVITIES (CONT.) 
 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT.) 

(i) Reconciliation of carrying amount 

 GOODWILL 
DEVELOPMENT 

COSTS 
CAPTURE 

COSTS 
INTELLECTUAL 

PROPERTY 
CONTRACT 

ACQUISITION COSTS OTHER TOTAL 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
        
OPENING NET BOOK VALUE 135  18,670  24,017 4,418 - 175 47,415 
Additions - 11,771 19,981 - 6,059 - 37,811 
Amortisation - (10,909) (23,223) (920) (500) (96) (35,648) 
Foreign exchange adjustment - - - (378) 69 - (309) 
CLOSING NET BOOK VALUE 135 19,532 20,775 3,120 5,628 79 49,269 
        

AT 30 JUNE 2021        
Cost  135 58,317 104,256 4,566 6,134 1,937 175,345 
Accumulated amortisation - (38,785) (83,481) (1,446) (506) (1,858) (126,076) 
CLOSING NET BOOK VALUE 135 19,532 20,775 3,120 5,628 79 49,269 
 

 GOODWILL 
DEVELOPMENT 

COSTS CAPTURE COSTS 
INTELLECTUAL 

PROPERTY 
CONTRACT 

ACQUISITION COSTS OTHER TOTAL 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
        
OPENING NET BOOK VALUE 135  11,642  30,030 - - 325 42,132 
Additions - 14,959 23,516 4,899 - 6 43,380 
Disposals - - - - - (25) (25) 
Amortisation - (7,931) (29,529) (606) - (134) (38,200) 
Foreign exchange adjustment - -  - 125 - 3 128 
CLOSING NET BOOK VALUE 135 18,670 24,017 4,418 - 175 47,415 
        

AT 30 JUNE 2020        
Cost  135 46,546 84,275 5,001 - 1,940 137,897 
Accumulated amortisation - (27,876) (60,258) (583) - (1,765) (90,482) 
CLOSING NET BOOK VALUE 135  18,670 24,017 4,418 - 175 47,415 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

D. INVESTING ACTIVITIES (CONT.) 
12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT.) 

(ii) Impairment testing 
The Group’s CGUs have been identified as North America (NA) and Australia and New Zealand (ANZ), in accordance with the business 
segments. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s FVLCD and its ViU. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. In determining the recoverable amount of assets, in the absence of 
quoted market prices, estimates are made regarding the present value of future post tax cash flows.  

In the current period, FVLCD has derived a higher value for both CGUs. FVLCD is an estimate of the amount that a market participant would 
pay for an asset or CGU, less cost of disposal. The fair value has been determined using assumptions to calculate the present value of the 
estimated future post tax cash flows expected to arise from the continued use of the asset including the anticipated cash flow effects to 
develop the asset or CGU from its current early stage of operation into its intended mature operating state. Cash flows have been discounted 
using an appropriate post tax market discount rate to arrive at a net present value of the CGU, less an estimate of disposal costs for the 
business, which is then compared against the CGU’s carrying value. The FVLCD calculations are based primarily on level 3 inputs as defined 
in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements. 

For the purpose of impairment testing goodwill is allocated to the ANZ CGUs which is expected to benefit from the synergies of the business 
combinations in which goodwill arises. 

The carrying amounts of the ANZ and NA CGUs as at 30 June 2021 include: 

 ANZ NA GROUP 
Goodwill  135 - 135 
Intangible assets 10,293 38,841 49,134 
Property, plant and equipment 11,415 13,680 25,095 

 
The key assumptions used in determining recoverable values for the ANZ and NA CGUs as at 30 June 2021 are presented below.

CASH FLOW 
PROJECTIONS 

The projected cash flows are based on 2021 actual results and 2022 to 2026 financial projections approved by the 
Board. These projections are based on internal business case modelling combined with analysis of external target 
market conditions. For the NA segment the projections have been adjusted to reflect the historical growth rates 
achieved by the ANZ segment during a similar expansion phase. 

DISCOUNT RATE The discount rates used in the discounted cash flow model reflect the Group’s estimate of the time value of 
money and risks specific to each CGU. The discount rates have been determined based on each CGU’s bottom-
up post‑tax weighted average cost of capital (WACC), adjusted for market risk and specific risk factors, if 
applicable. The post-tax discount rate is 11.5% (13.1% pre-tax) for ANZ and 12.5% (14.4% pre-tax) for NA. 

TERMINAL  
GROWTH RATE 

The terminal value growth rates have been determined based on expectations of long-term operating conditions. 
For both the ANZ and NA CGUs, the Group has applied a 3% terminal growth rate in the terminal value. 

The recoverable amount for the ANZ CGU continues to significantly exceed its carrying amount. In order for the NA CGU’s recoverable 
amount to equal its carrying amount, the following changes in assumptions would be required:  

 
INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN ASSUMPTIONS REQUIRED FOR RECOVERABLE AMOUNT 

TO EQUAL CARRYING AMOUNT 

 
5-YEAR AVERAGE 

REVENUE GROWTH 
TERMINAL GROWTH 

RATE 
DISCOUNT  
RATE (BPS) 

   
NA (4.9%) (6.2%) 4.3% 

Management considers it unlikely that these changes in assumptions would occur. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

D. INVESTING ACTIVITIES (CONT.) 

 PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT 

ACCOUNTING POLICY – RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT OF PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Such cost 
includes the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when the cost of replacing the parts is incurred, the cost of 
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and the employee benefit costs directly attributable 
to the assembly process in the case of camera systems. If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different 
useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. Any gain or loss on 
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to 
the Group.   

Depreciation 
Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis to write down the cost less estimated residual value over the estimated useful life of 
the assets. The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted if 
appropriate. The following useful lives are applied: 

 Office equipment & furniture: 3 years 
 Camera systems: 5 years 
 Camera spare parts and stand-by equipment: 7-10 years 

 Right-of-use assets: 2-5 years 

Derecognition and disposal 
An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to be obtained from 
its use. Gains or losses arising from the derecognition of an asset (calculated as the difference between the proceeds received and the 
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised. 

 ASSETS UNDER 
CONSTRUCTION 

OFFICE 
EQUIPMENT & 

FURNITURE 
CAMERA 
SYSTEMS 

RIGHT-OF-USE 
ASSETS TOTAL 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
      
OPENING NET BOOK VALUE - 4,664 14,657 14,087 33,408 
Additions 280 1,116 338 - 1,734 
Transfers1 531 - (531) - - 
Disposals - - (2) - (2) 
Depreciation - (1,696) (3,437) (4,331) (9,464) 
Foreign exchange adjustment - (157) - (424) (581) 
CLOSING NET BOOK VALUE 811 3,927 11,025 9,332 25,095 
      
AT 30 JUNE 2021      
Cost  811 8,318 29,179 17,567 55,875 
Accumulated depreciation - (4,391) (18,154) (8,235) (30,780) 
CLOSING NET BOOK VALUE 811 3,927 11,025 9,332 25,095 

 
1 For the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group has disclosed separately assets under construction and camera systems. $618 thousand has been transferred 
from camera systems to assets under construction, representing the carrying value of assets under construction previously included in camera systems as at 
1 July 2020. During the financial year ended 30 June 2021, $87 thousand were transferred to camera systems following completion of their assembly and 
their readiness for use. Comparatives have not been adjusted.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

D. INVESTING ACTIVITIES (CONT.) 
13. PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT (CONT.) 

 
OFFICE EQUIPMENT & 

FURNITURE 
CAMERA 
SYSTEMS 

RIGHT-OF-USE 
ASSETS TOTAL 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
          
AT 30 JUNE 2019 2,164 14,618 - 16,782 
Adjustment on initial application of AASB 161 (505) - 6,530 6,025 
AT 1 JULY 2019 1,659 14,618 6,530 22,807 
Additions 4,422 3,248 11,436 19,106 
Disposals - (138) - (138) 
Depreciation (1,402) (3,071) (4,025) (8,498) 
Foreign exchange adjustment (15) - 146 131 
CLOSING NET BOOK VALUE 4,664 14,657 14,087 33,408 
     
AT 30 JUNE 2020     
Cost  7,465 29,382 18,086 54,933 
Accumulated depreciation (2,801) (14,725) (3,999) (21,525) 
CLOSING NET BOOK VALUE 4,664 14,657 14,087 33,408 
 

1 The Group has initially applied AASB 16 Leases at 1 July 2019, using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the Group has recognised 
right-of-use assets on the date of initial application.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

E. OTHER 

IN THIS SECTION 

This section provides information on items which require disclosure to comply with Australian Accounting Standards and other regulatory 
pronouncements that are not considered critical in understanding the financial performance or position of the Group. 

 

14. PROVISIONS 

ACCOUNTING POLICY - RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT OF PROVISIONS 
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, there is a present legal or constructive obligation that can be measured reliably, 
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. The Group’s provisions consist of make 
good provisions on leased assets, which are estimated at the present value of expected restoration costs that arise at lease 
commencement, with a corresponding amount included in the cost of the right-of-use asset. Any subsequent change in the estimate is 
recognised prospectively as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.  
If the effect is material, a provision is determined by discounting the best estimate of the expected future cash flows required to settle 
the obligation at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 
The unwinding of the discount is treated as a finance expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  
Obligations are included in other non-current liabilities in the statement of financial position as the outflow of economic resources are 
expected to occur at least 12 months after the reporting period. 

 

MOVEMENT IN MAKE GOOD PROVISION 
30 JUNE 2021 

$’000 
30 JUNE 2020 

$’000 
   
BALANCE AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 2,233 630 
Provision made during the year - 1,577 
Interest expense on unwinding of make good provisions 7 24 
Foreign exchange adjustment (90) 2 
BALANCE AT THE END OF THE YEAR 2,150 2,233 
 

15. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit or loss attributable to shareholders, adjusted to exclude costs of servicing equity (other 
than dividends), divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element. 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to shareholders, adjusted for: 

 costs of servicing equity (other than dividends); 
 the after-tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised as expenses; 

and 
 other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of potential ordinary 

shares, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus 
element. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Nearmap Ltd   
 

72 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

E. OTHER (CONT.) 
15. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONT.) 

  30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
  $’000 $’000 
   
Loss after tax attributable to ordinary equity holders (18,820) (36,717) 
Loss used in calculating diluted earnings per share (18,820) (36,717) 

   
 

NUMBER OF SHARES 
 

NUMBER OF SHARES 
   
Weighted-average number of ordinary shares on issue used in the  
calculation of basic loss per share 484,493,462 451,283,637 

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares on issue used  in the  
calculation of diluted loss per share 484,493,462 451,283,637 

   
  30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
LOSS PER SHARE $’000 $’000 
   
BASIC LOSS PER SHARE (CENTS PER SHARE) (3.88) (8.14) 
DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE (CENTS PER SHARE) (3.88) (8.14) 

 
The options granted to employees are considered to be ordinary shares and are included in the determination of diluted earnings per share 
to the extent to which they are dilutive. For the year ended 30 June 2021, options have not been included in calculating diluted EPS because 
their effect is anti-dilutive. 

There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares that would significantly change the number of 
ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares outstanding between the reporting date and the date when the consolidated financial 
statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors. 
 

16. OTHER CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES 

  30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
  $’000 $’000 
   
Contract assets1 2,695 1,805 
Term deposits 2,356 - 
Lease deposits 370 314 
Interest receivable 364 22 
Other 70 276 
TOTAL OTHER RECEIVABLES 5,855 2,417 
Included in the consolidated statement of financial position as:   
Current other receivables 5,485 2,417 
Non-current other receivables 370 - 
TOTAL OTHER RECEIVABLES 5,855 2,491 
 
1 Refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for a description of the nature of contract assets. In the prior year, contract assets of $3,927 thousand 
were presented within trade receivables. In the current year, contract assets are presented either within other current receivables (when the contract is in a 
net asset position), or within unearned revenue (when the contract is in a net liability position) to better reflect their nature. Comparative figures have been 
adjusted accordingly, and as such, contract assets of $1,805 have been presented within other current receivables in the comparative period. This 
reclassification has had no impact on the Group’s consolidated net working capital, consolidated net assets, or consolidated net loss. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

E. OTHER (CONT.) 
17. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

 30 JUNE 2021 
$’000 

30 JUNE 2020 
$’000 

   
RECONCILIATION OF LOSS AFTER TAX TO NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATIONS    
Loss after tax (18,820) (36,717) 
Adjustment for non-cash items   
Amortisation and depreciation 45,112 46,698 
Foreign exchange differences (134) (273) 
Share based payment expense 5,818 4,062 
Gain on sale of unlisted investments (514) - 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  - (113) 
Interest expense – unwind of lease liabilities and other liabilities 497 596 
Other 125 - 
   
Changes in assets and liabilities   
Intangibles – contract acquisition costs (6,059) - 
Receivables and other assets (7,215) (6,356) 
Payables and other liabilities 10,825 5,484 
Provision for employee benefits 5,608 833 
Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities (4,199) (2,126) 
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 31,044 12,088 

 

 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 30 JUNE 2021 
$’000 

30 JUNE 2020 
$’000 

   
Cash at bank and on hand 53,431 6,466 
Deposit on call - 2,362 
Short term deposits at call 70,000 27,312 
TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 123,431 36,140 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

E. OTHER (CONT.) 
 PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION 

 30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Current assets 70,382  27,326  
Total assets 225,046 125,867 
Current liabilities (8,959) (1,056) 
Total liabilities (8,959) (15,163) 
NET ASSETS 216,087 110,704 
    
Contributed equity1 224,268 126,807 
Reserves 26,876 19,382 
Accumulated losses (35,057) (35,485) 
TOTAL SHAREHOLDER EQUITY 216,087 110,704 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) OF THE PARENT ENTITY 427 (4,587) 

 
1 The Group’s contributed equity in the consolidated statement of financial position is presented net of treasury shares held by Nearmap Australia Pty Ltd of 
$76 thousand (30 June 2020: $230 thousand). 

The parent entity entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee (the Deed) dated 31 May 2017 with its subsidiaries. Under the Deed each company 
guarantees the debts of the others. By entering into the Deed, the wholly owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to 
prepare a financial report and Directors’ report under Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) issued by the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission. Refer to note 20 for listing of subsidiaries. 

Details of the contingent liabilities of the Group are contained in note 23. There are no contingent liabilities of the parent entity.  

There are no contractual commitments of the parent entity. 
 

 GROUP ENTITIES 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and equity of the following subsidiaries in accordance with the 
accounting policy described in note 2: 

  EQUITY HOLDING 
 COUNTRY OF  

INCORPORATION 
2021 2020 

NAME OF ENTITY % % 
Nearmap Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Nearmap Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Nearmap USA Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Nearmap Aerospace Inc. United States 100 100 
Nearmap US, Inc. United States 100 100 
Nearmap Remote Sensing US, Inc. United States 100 100 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

E. OTHER (CONT.) 
 AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 

The following fees were paid or are payable at 30 June 2021 for services provided by the auditor of the Group and its related practices during 
the financial year: 

  30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
  $ $ 
   
AUDIT SERVICES PAID TO KPMG   
Remuneration paid to KPMG for audit or review of the financial statements of the entity 230,000 190,000 
    
NON-AUDIT SERVICES PAID TO KPMG   
Other advisory for the entity and any other entity in the Group 31,900 39,500 
TOTAL PAID/PAYABLE TO KPMG 261,900 229,500 
 

 RELATED PARTIES  

(i) Compensation of key management personnel  
  30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
  $ $ 
   
Employee benefits  4,337,681  4,621,671 
Post-employment benefits  150,223  170,365 
Share-based payments  1,777,886  1,618,154 
TOTAL COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 6,265,790 6,410,190 

 
(ii) Transactions with key management personnel 
Financial assistance under the Employee Share Option Plan 
The Nearmap ESOP includes an Employee Loan Scheme that permits Nearmap to grant financial assistance to employees by way of loan to 
enable them to exercise options and acquire shares. These loans bear interest at rates that ranged from 0.30% to 0.45% during the year 
ended 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: 0.45% to 1.45%) and are repayable four years after the issue date. The loans are not recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 

  30 JUNE 2021 30 JUNE 2020 
  $ $ 
    
SHARE OPTION LOANS OUTSTANDING AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR   7,968,567  6,556,950 
Share option loans repaid during the period   (1,078,443) (396,449) 
Share option loans provided during the period   -  1,759,008  
Interest accrued on share option loans   21,331  49,058 
SHARE OPTION LOANS OUTSTANDING AT THE END OF THE YEAR  6,911,455 7,968,567  
 

Other than the loans granted to key management personnel under the employee loan scheme, there have been no sales, purchases or other 
transactions with related parties during the year ended 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: nil). F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

E. OTHER (CONT.) 
 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Patent infringement 
On 5 May 2021 Eagle View Technologies, Inc. and Pictometry International Corp (collectively “EV”) filed a complaint against Nearmap US, 
Inc. (“Nearmap”) in the United States District Court (District of Utah, Northern Division) alleging eight patent infringements. On 8 July 2021, 
Nearmap filed a Motion to Dismiss for two of these patent infringements claims. Management is continuing to assess the approach for the 
remaining six claims. On 5 August 2021, EV filed a response to Nearmap's Motion to Dismiss. The Group believes EV’s allegations are 
fundamentally without merit and Nearmap is well prepared to vigorously defend against the claims.  

As at the date of this report, the litigation process is ongoing. No provision has been recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 30 June 2021 as the Group considers that no present obligation exists. The Group recognises legal costs as incurred.  

Bank guarantee 
As at 30 June 2021, the Group has entered into a bank guarantee agreement for $2,356 thousand at the request of the lessors of its registered 
office in Barangaroo, NSW, Australia (30 June 2020: $2,356 thousand). 

 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

With regards to the patent infringement claims filed by EV against the Group, a Motion to Dismiss for two of the patent infringement claims 
was filed by the Group on 8 July 2021. EV responded to the Motion to Dismiss on 5 August 2021. These adjusting events subsequent to the 
reporting date have been considered by the Group in determining that the Group does not have a present obligation as at 30 June 2021. 

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or could significantly affect the 
operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years. 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of the Company, I state that: 

In the opinion of the Directors: 

 

 giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its performance for the year 
ended on that date; and 

 complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 
standards; and 

 

 

 

This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in accordance with sections 295A of 
the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial period ending 30 June 2021. 

 
On behalf of the Board 

 
Rob Newman 
Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director 
17 August 2021
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KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated 
with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and 
logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation. Liability limited by 
a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the shareholders of Nearmap Limited 

Report on the audit of the Financial Report

Opinion 

We have audited the Financial Report of 
Nearmap Limited (the Company). 

In our opinion, the accompanying 
Financial Report of the Company is in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including: 

• giving a true and fair view of the
Group's financial position as at 30 June
2021 and of its financial performance for
the year ended on that date; and

• complying with Australian Accounting
Standards and the Corporations
Regulations 2001.

The Financial Report comprises: 

• Consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June
2021

• Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, Consolidated statement of
changes in equity, and Consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended

• Notes including a summary of significant accounting
policies

• Directors' Declaration.

The Group consists of Nearmap Limited (the Company) and 
the entities it controlled at the year end or from time to 
time during the financial year. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the Financial Report section of our report. 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of 
the Financial Report in Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the 
Code. 
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Key Audit Matters 

The Key Audit Matters we identified are: 

• Carrying value of intangible assets of
the US business

• Recognition of revenue, unearned
revenue and contract assets

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the Financial Report of the current period. 

These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the Financial Report as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. 

Carrying value of intangible assets of the US business 

Refer to Note 12 to the Financial Report 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The group has $49.3 million of intangible assets 
comprising primarily capture costs and 
development costs. 

The intangible assets attributed to the US 
business total $38.8 million. These assets are 
assessed for impairment at the US business 
cash generating unit (CGU) level, using a Fair 
Value Less Cost of Disposal model (“FVLCD” or 
“the model”). 

The assessment of impairment was a key audit 
matter because it involved significant 
judgement in evaluating the assumptions used 
by the Group in their FVLCD model. 

The key judgements we focused on included: 

• Complex modelling, particularly those
containing judgemental allocations of
corporate assets and costs to CGUs, using
forward-looking assumptions tend to be
prone to greater risk for potential bias, error
and inconsistent application. These
conditions necessitate additional scrutiny by
us, in particular to address the objectivity of
sources used for assumptions, and their
consistent application.

• Future cash flow projections for FY 2022 to
2026. The US business is still in the early
stage of maturity which increases the risk
of inaccurate forecasts.

Our procedures included: 

• We evaluated the methodology applied by the
Group in allocating corporate assets and costs
across CGU's for consistency with our
understanding of the business and the criteria in
the accounting standards;

• We assessed the methodology in the model for
consistency with the basis required by Australian
Accounting Standards;

• We challenged the forecasts, assumptions, and
the objectivity of sources on which the
assumptions are based. We compared the cash
flow projections for FY 2022 to 2026 in the
model to those in the latest Board approved
budgets and evaluated their consistency with the
Group's intentions as outlined in Directors'
minutes and strategy documents. We also used
our knowledge of the business and considered
external sources including analysts' expectations
and industry trends. The forecast growth was
also assessed against the actual growth rate
achieved in the establishment of the Australian
business as well as market research reports;

• We assessed the historical accuracy of forecasts
by comparing to actual results, to use in our
evaluation of projections included in the model.

• We evaluated the adequacy of disclosures in the
financial report using our understanding obtained
from our testing and against the requirements of
Australian Accounting Standards.
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Recognition of revenue ($113.4 million), unearned revenue ($56.8 million) and contract assets 
($2.7 million) 

Refer to Note 3 to the Financial Report 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The Group derives the majority of its revenue 
from subscription fees from customers for 
access to its online location intelligence 
services, which it recognises rateably over the 
related contractual term. The Group’s policy is 
that, at the year end, services sold to 
customers in advance (i.e. which are yet to be 
delivered) are recognised as a liability and 
classified as unearned revenue ($56.8 million), 
or contract assets when the services have been 
delivered and revenue has been recognised but 
not yet invoiced ($2.7 million). 

The recognition of revenue and related 
unearned revenue and contract assets is 
considered to be a key audit matter due to: 

• The significance of revenue and unearned
revenue to the financial statements; and

• The high volume of high value multi-year
staggered billing contracts, which require
complex manual adjustments.

We focused on assessing revenue recognised 
by the Group for subscription fees in 
accordance with the accounting standards and 
the basis for manual adjustments made by the 
Group related to revenue, unearned revenue 
and contract assets.   

Our procedures included: 

• We assessed the appropriateness of the Group’s
accounting policies related to revenue
recognition against the requirements of
the accounting standard and our understanding
of the business and industry practice;

• We obtained an understanding, and tested key
internal controls over the Group’s accounting for
revenue from contracts with customers;

• We tested the completeness and accuracy of the
underlying data within the Group’s billing and
revenue recognition system by tracing a sample
of contract information in the system to the
source data and the signed customer contract;

• Using data analytics, we checked the expected
revenue including the amount of unearned
revenue to be recognised during the year and
compared to the figures in the revenue and
unearned revenue schedule;

• For a sample of multi-year contracts, we checked
the revenue, contract assets and unearned
revenue recognised for each contract by the
Group including manual adjustments against the
terms and conditions of the respective contract
with customers and requirements of AASB 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers;

• For a sample of revenue items and credit notes
recognised by the Group either side of the year-
end, we checked revenue recognised in the
correct accounting period;

• We evaluated the adequacy of disclosures in the
financial report using our understanding obtained
from our testing and against the requirements of
Australian Accounting Standards.
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Other Information 

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Nearmap Limited’s annual reporting which is 
provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s Report. The Directors are responsible for the 
Other Information.  

The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report was the Directors’ Report and 
the Message from the Chair of the People, Culture and Remuneration Committee. The Chairman’s letter, 
CEO’s Letter, FY21 Highlights, Customer Stories, Sustainability Statement, Shareholder Information and 
Corporate Information are expected to be made available to us after the date of the Auditor's Report. 

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not and 
will not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the 
Remuneration Report and our related assurance opinions. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. In 
doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Report or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, 
and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The Directors are responsible for: 

• preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards and the Corporations Act 2001

• implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that gives a
true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

• assessing the Group and Company's ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use of
the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to
liquidate the Group and Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objective is: 

• to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and

• to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
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Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of the Financial Report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf. This description forms part of our 
Auditor’s Report. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the Remuneration 
Report of Nearmap Limited for the 
year ended 30 June 2021, complies 
with Section 300A of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

Directors’ responsibilities 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the 
preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in 
accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Our responsibilities 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 
15 to 32 of the Directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 
2021.  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

KPMG Caoimhe Toouli 

Partner 

Sydney 

17 August 2021 
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